# ResearchOnline@JCU



This file is part of the following work:

# Chua, Chia-Miin (2012) *The effects of ocean acidification and warming on the early life history stages of corals.* PhD Thesis, James Cook University.

Access to this file is available from: https://doi.org/10.25903/5314%2D7v85

Copyright  $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$  2012 Chia-Miin Chua

The author has certified to JCU that they have made a reasonable effort to gain permission and acknowledge the owners of any third party copyright material included in this document. If you believe that this is not the case, please email researchonline@jcu.edu.au

# ResearchOnline@JCU

This file is part of the following reference:

Chua, Chia-Miin (2012) The effects of ocean acidification and warming on the early life history stages of corals. PhD thesis, James Cook University.

Access to this file is available from:

http://eprints.jcu.edu.au/23713/

The author has certified to JCU that they have made a reasonable effort to gain permission and acknowledge the owner of any third party copyright material included in this document. If you believe that this is not the case, please contact <u>ResearchOnline@jcu.edu.au</u> and quote <u>http://eprints.jcu.edu.au/23713/</u>



# The effects of ocean acidification and warming on the early life history stages of corals

Thesis submitted by

### Chia-Miin CHUA BSc (Hons)

In January 2012

For the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Marine Biology

within the ARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies and the School of Marine and Tropical Biology

James Cook University

Townsville Queensland Australia

### **Statement of Access**

I, the undersigned, the author of this thesis, understand that James Cook University will make it available for use within the University Library and via the Australian Digital Thesis Network for use elsewhere.

I understand that as an unpublished work this thesis has significant protection under the Copyright Act and I do not wish to put any further restrictions upon access to this thesis.

23/01/2012

(Signature)

(Date)

#### Declaration

I declare that this thesis is my own work and has not been submitted in any form for another degree or diploma at my university or other institution of tertiary education. Information derived from the published or unpublished work of others has been acknowledged in the text and a list of references is given.

23/01/2012

(Signature)

(Date)

# **Electronic copy declaration**

I, the undersigned, the author of this work, declare that the electronic copy of this thesis provided to the James Cook University library, is an accurate copy of the print thesis submitted, within the limits of the technology available.

23/01/2012

(Signature)

(Date)

#### Statement on the contribution of others

Some of the chapters of this thesis are also manuscripts that have been submitted for publication in peer-reviewed journals or are in preparation for submission. Several researchers have made contributions to these manuscripts and it is necessary to recognise their contribution.

Chapter 2 is a manuscript currently in review at 'Coral Reefs' and is co-authored by W. Leggat, A. Moya and A. H. Baird. Experiments for this manuscript were performed by CMC and AM. The statistical analyses were performed by CMC and AHB. AHB, AM and WL provided constructive comments in shaping the manuscript. All authors provided intellectual input into this manuscript.

Chapter 3 is a manuscript currently in review at PLOS one and is co-authored by W. Leggat, A. Moya and A. H. Baird. AHB and WL provided ideas and helped to design the study. Experiments for this manuscript were performed by CMC and AM. The statistical analyses were performed by CMC and AHB. AHB, AM and WL provided constructive comments in shaping the manuscript. All authors provided intellectual input into this manuscript.

Chapter 4 is a manuscript nearing submission and is co-authored by W. Leggat, A. Moya and A. H. Baird. Experiments for this manuscript were performed by CMC and AM. The statistical analyses were performed by CMC and AHB. AHB, AM and WL provided constructive comments in shaping the manuscript. All authors provided intellectual input into this manuscript.

I was supported by a postgraduate scholarship from the Ministry of Higher Education of Malaysia. Funding from this study came from ARC grant to WL, ARC future fellow grant to AHB and GRS research scheme to CMC. Fieldwork assistance was provided by E. Woolsey, L. Huisman, G. Torda, P. Cross, S. Sprungla, D. Miller's lab crew and Willis's lab crew. Technical support for culture system was provided by JCU Marine Aquarium Research Facility Unit (MARFU). L. Harrington provided crustose coralline algae (CCA) identification and constructive comments to the experiment set up and CCA culture.

#### Acknowledgements

I thank everyone who has assisted me over the years with this PhD and I am particularly grateful to the people mentioned below. Apologies to anyone that I have forgotten to mention, and I hope I have thanked you along the way.

First, I would like to thank my supervisors and JCU staff members who have spent time providing valuable guidance and feedback. I thank my primary supervisors Andrew Baird and Bill Leggat who were instrumental in my development as an independent researcher. I also thank Aurelie Moya for her continuous support and countless late night's sessions in the lab working on this study. I am very grateful for the valuable insights gained through discussion and advice from Maria Byrne and I thank Lindsay Harrington for her knowledge, advice and information on the settlement substrate component in this study.

I would like to thank Philip Munday for letting us replicate and modify his ocean acidification manipulation system. For technical assistance, I would like to thank Geoff Endo, Rob Gegg, Ross Barrett and the MARFU team. And to Peter Schupp and Alex Kerr from University of Guam, thank you for your generosity and collaboration in this study.

For financial assistance, I acknowledge the support of James Cook University and the Australian Research Council. I was supported by the Ministry of Higher Education Malaysia. And I thank Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority for allowing us to conduct this research on Australian reefs. Thank you CSIRO, ACRS and ANNIMS for travel subsidies to conferences.

I would like to give a special mention to everyone that has helped me with my field and laboratory work, especially Erika Woolsey, Greg Torda, Lotte Huisman, Erin Graham and Peter Cross. Thank you for making the strenuous coral collection, groundhog days and the late nights awesome and fun. And thanks to everyone who has been involved in the various adventure trips and 'coral sex-trade'. It is through those experiences that I have discovered the beauty of science and new discoveries. Very special thanks to Kellie Johns who has continuously providing useful comments to my manuscripts and significantly improved my writing skills in a second language. Thank you to Duan Biggs for inspiring numerous creative artworks, and for bringing humour to Room 105 and the Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies.

Finally I would like to thank my family: Ju, Heng, Hui, Ma and Pa; and friends: Sally, Daisie, JK, Becs, Dom, Andy, Darren, Mi, Steph, Susie and lots more, for their support and encouragement through tough times. Thank you for always being there for me. I dedicate this thesis to my partner Ryan Anderson, for being the inspiration of my life, and for the patience and TLC in our relationship.

## Contents

Abstract	8
Chapter 1: General Introduction	10
Ocean acidification and ocean carbon chemistry	11
Calcification of Marine Organisms	13
Aragonite saturation and calcification	14
Mechanisms by which ocean acidification may affect the early life histor	ry of marine
organisms	15
Responses of marine invertebrate larvae (MIL) to ocean acidification	15
Temperature elevation and corals	17
Synergistic effects	17
Thesis outline	18
Chapter 2: Near-future reductions in pH have no consistent ecological	l effects in the
early life history stages of reef corals	
Introduction	
Materials and method	31
Collection of gravid colonies	31
Experimental manipulation of pH	31
The effect of acidification on development	32
The effect of pH on metamorphosis	
The effect of acidification on larval survivorship	
Data analysis	34
Results	34

The effect of pH on larval development	34
The effect of pH on larval survivorship	35
The effect of pH on metamorphosis	35
Discussion	35
Chapter 3: Effects of ocean acidification on ocean warming on the ea	rly life history
stages of corals	
Introduction:	46
Materials and method	48
Collection of gravid colonies	48
Experimental manipulation of ocean acidification and warming	48
The effect of elevated pCO <sub>2</sub> and warming on fertilization	49
The effect of elevated pCO <sub>2</sub> and warming on development	49
The effect of elevated pCO <sub>2</sub> and warming on metamorphosis	49
Data analysis	50
Results:	51
Discussion:	52
Chapter 4: Effects of ocean acidification on metamorphosis of larvae	of a brooding
and spawning coral	
Introduction	68
Materials and method	70
Experimental manipulation of ocean acidification.	71
The effect of pCO <sub>2</sub> on metamorphosis	71
Data analysis	72

Results	72
Discussion	72
Chapter 5: Effects of ocean acidification and ocean warming on	the growth and
patterns of skeletogenesis in juvenile corals.	
Introduction	79
Materials and method	
Larval culture and settlement	80
Experimental manipulation of pCO2 and temperature	81
Effects of acidification on juvenile growth	81
Effects of acidification and warmingon juvenile growth	
Data analysis	83
Results	
Growth of recruits	
Patterns of skeletogenesis	83
Discussion	
Chapter 6: General Discussion	
References	
Appendices	

## List of Tables

Table 1.1: Projected changes in ocean surface carbonate chemistry based on IPCC IS92a
CO <sub>2</sub> emission scenario. pH is based on seawater scale. Percent changes from preindustrial
values are in brackets
Table 1.2: A summary of previous research on the effects of ocean acidification on the
early life history stages of corals. Columns are categorized according to the current $pCO_2$ ,
near future and past 2100 pCO <sub>2</sub> value
Table 1.3: A summary of previous research on the effects of ocean warming on the early
life history stages of corals. Columns are categorized according to the current average sea
temperature, near future and post-2100 sea temperature values
Table 2.1: Water parameters measurements Oct 2009 with 1 standard error value for
experiments conducted
Table 2.2: Water parameters measurements Nov 2009 with 1 standard error value for
experiments conducted
Table 2.3: Water parameters measurements Dec 2009 with 1 standard error value for
experiments conducted
Table 3.1: Water chemistry parameters (±SE) value throughout the experiment with
saturation values of Aragonite and Calcite and actual saturated values of $pCO_2$ in
treatments tanks calculated using CO2SYS
Table 3.2: Two-way ANOVA results for every fertilization experiment (single species
tested against elevated $pCO_2$ (abbreviated $pCO_2$ ) and temperature treatment) with
Bonferroni correction

Table 3.3: Two-way ANOVA results for every 'average time to gastrula stage' experiment
(single species tested against elevated $pCO_2$ (abbreviated $pCO_2$ ) and temperature treatment)
with Bonferroni correction
Table 3.4: Two-way ANOVA results for every 'average time to motile stage' experiment
(single species tested against elevated $pCO_2$ (abbreviated $pCO_2$ ) and temperature treatment)
with Bonferroni correction
<b>Table 3.5</b> : Median survivorship results for <i>A. tenuis</i> , Kaplan-meier analysis. df = 3, $\chi^2$ =
16.4, p< 0.001
<b>Table 3.6</b> : Survivorship results for <i>A. millepora</i> , Kaplan-Meier analysis. df = 3, $\chi^2$ = 4.814,
p = 0.028
Table 3.7: Two-way ANOVA results for every 'metamorphosis' experiment (single species
tested against elevated $pCO_2$ (abbreviated $pCO_2$ ) and temperature treatment) with
Bonferroni correction
Table 4.1: Water chemistry parameters $(\pm SE)$ value throughout the experiment with
saturation values of Aragonite and Calcite and actual saturated values of $pCO_2$ in
treatments tanks calculated using CO2SYS74
Table 4.2: The number of Leptastrea cf transversa larvae completing metamorphosis under
four level of $pCO_2$
<b>Table 6.1</b> : A summary of the results compiled in this thesis

#### **List of Figures**

Figure 1.1: Coloured lines represent five projected IPCC scenario of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and concentration in the atmosphere within year 2100 (from Bindoff et al. 2007, IPCC report) Figure 1.2: Schematic diagram of the life cycle of acroporids, with emphasis on the early Figure 2.1: Time in hours to reach gastrula (mean + SE) in four separate experiments (A =Acropora tenuis, B = A. hyacinthus, C = A. millepora Nov and D = A. millepora Dec) under Figure 2.2: Survivorship (mean number of larvae alive  $\pm$ SE) in three separate experiments **Figure 2.3**: Metamorphosis (mean  $\% \pm SE$ ) in three separate experiments (A = Acropora *hyacinthus*,  $\mathbf{B} = A$ . *millepora Nov* and  $\mathbf{C} = A$ . *millepora Dec*) under four acidity treatments Figure 3.1: Average percentile of fertilization under both elevated temperature and acidity exposure ( $\pm$ SE) for 4 experiments across 2 acroporid species (n = 20 for both species).62 Figure 3.2: Average time to gastrula under both elevated temperature and acidity exposure Figure 3.3: Average time to motile under both elevated temperature and acidity exposure (±SE) for 4 experiments across 2 acroporid species (A. tenuis n= 142; A millepora n= 142– Figure 3.4: Number of surviving propagules under both elevated temperature and acidity

exposure ( $\pm$ SE) for 2 experiments across 2 acroporid species (n= 150 for borth species).65

Figure 3.5: Average percentile of metamorphosis under both elevated temperature and
acidity exposure ( $\pm$ SE) for 2 experiments across 2 acroporid species (n= 72 for both
species)
Figure 4.1: (a) A broadcast spawned larva ( <i>Leptasrea cf. transversa</i> ) with no symbionts (b)
a brooded larvae (Stylophora pistillata) with symbionts evident as brown splotches in the
gastroderm76
Figure 4.2: The proportion of <i>Goniastrea retiformis</i> larval complete metamorphosis under
four acidification regimes (mean + SE)77
Figure 5.1: Mean maximum diameter of A. millepora juvenile in four $pCO_2$ treatments
(±SE) with n = 248
Figure 5.2: Average maximum diameter of <i>A. tenuis</i> (A; n= 153) and <i>A. millepora</i> (B; n=
184) juveniles in four combinations of $pCO_2$ and temperature through time in 2010 86
Figure 5.3: Stereo-micrographs of representative coral spats of A. millepora in four
different pH treatments
Figure 5.4: Stereo-micrographs of representative coral spats of A. tenuis in four different
CO <sub>2</sub> and temperature treatments
Figure 5.5: Stereo-micrographs of representative coral spats of A. millepora in four
different elevated CO <sub>2</sub> and temperature treatments

#### Abstract

The rapid increase in carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$  in the atmosphere since the industrial revolution is heating the earth and decreased the ocean's pH level. Sea temperature is predicted to rise by between 2 to 4 °C and ocean pH is predicted to decrease 0.2-0.4 units by the end of this century. These changes, along with associated changes in the carbonate chemistry of seawater, are predicted to disrupt calcification and affect the physiology of many marine organisms. While the effects of ocean acidification (OA) on adult scleractinian corals have been extensively studied, until very recently, the effects of OA on the ecology of the early life history stages of corals remained largely unexplored. Similarly, while the effects of temperature on adults and early life history stages of corals are well known, the possible synergistic effects of temperature and OA have not been examined. It is important to assess the effect of OA on the early life stages of corals in order to predict the likely effects on population dynamics. In addition, such research will provide useful guidance for managing coral reefs. To address these critical knowledge gaps, I explored the effect of OA and temperature on fertilization, development, survivorship and metamorphosis using gametes and larvae of a number of abundant scleractinian corals from the Great Barrier Reef. In the first series of experiments, I used four treatment levels of  $pCO_2$  corresponding to current levels of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> (approximately 380 ppm), and three projected values within this century (550, 750 and 1000 ppm), to test whether fertilization, embryonic development, larval survivorship or metamorphosis was affected by OA. None of these variables were consistently affected by  $pCO_2$  suggesting that there will be no direct ecological effects of OA on the pre-settlement stages of reef corals, at least in the near future. In a second series of experiments, I tested the effect of OA in combination with elevated temperature on the

response variables mentioned above. We used four treatments: control, elevated temperature (+2°C), decreased pH (600-700 ppm) and a combination of elevated temperature and acidity. There were no consistent effects of OA on fertilization, development, survivorship or metamorphosis either alone, or acting synergistically with temperature. In contrast, temperature consistently increased rates of development, but otherwise had little effect. I conclude that temperature is more likely to affect the ecology of the early life history stages of corals in the near future, mostly by speeding up rates of development and therefore altering patterns of connectivity among reefs. In the third set of experiments, I compared the effects of ocean acidification on the larval metamorphosis of a spawning coral Goniastrea retiformis and a brooding coral Leptastrea cf transversa in Guam. Again, metamorphosis was not consistently affected by  $pCO_2$  in either species. These results suggest that the mode of reproduction does not affect the larval response to  $pCO_2$  and furthermore, there will be no direct effects of ocean acidification on settlement rates of reef corals, at least in the near future. In the final set of experiments, I tested the effect of ocean acidification on its own and in combination with elevated temperature on the growth of juveniles of Acropora millepora and Acropora tenuis using the treatment levels described above. Neither OA nor temperature had any significant effect on growth or the pattern of skeleton formation in these species. I concluded ocean acidification is not a threat to the early life history stages of corals in the foreseeable future.

#### **Chapter 1: General Introduction**

Coral reefs are one of the most important marine ecosystems as they support a high biodiversity of marine benthic and pelagic species (Sorokin 1993). In tropical coral reefs, scleractinian coral and calcareous algae share the role of building and cementing the massive carbonate framework that forms a habitat for coral reef organisms (Kleypas et al. 2006). A symbiotic relationship exists between the algae and coral host, allowing tight nutrient cycling which contributes to the high productivity on coral reefs despite many tropical reefs existing in a nutrient poor environment (Hatcher 1988). This high productivity supports high biodiversity, which benefits the human community by contributing to the economy in many tropical regions (Allen and Steene 1994). Each year, coral reefs provide nearly USD\$30 billion in net benefits of goods and services to world economies, including tourism, fisheries and coastal protection (Costanza et al. 1997; Bryant et al. 1998; Cesar et al. 2003). More than 100 countries are bordered by coral reefs and tens of millions of people depend on these reefs for part of their protein intake (Salvat 1992). One square kilometer of actively growing coral reef can provide the protein requirements of over 300 people if no other protein sources are available (Jennings and Polunin 1996). Despite the importance of coral reefs, they continue to deteriorate through a combination of direct and indirect human impacts, such as pollution and global climate change (Caldeira and Wickett 2003).

Global climate change is caused by the ongoing accumulation of  $CO_2$  and other greenhouses gases such as methane, in the atmosphere (Bindoff et al. 2007; IPCC report, Fig. 1.1). Since the start of the industrial revolution (circa 1750) the atmospheric concentration of  $CO_2$  has risen from a pre-industrial level of around 280 parts per million (ppm) to today's concentration of approximately 393 ppm (Maona Loa Observatory, 2012, Table 1.1). This 37.5% rise in atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentration is even more significant considering that almost 50% of total anthropogenic  $CO_2$  emissions over the last 250 years have been absorbed by the world's oceans (Sabine et al. 2004). While this oceanic absorption has significantly buffered the rate of global warming, an often overlooked consequence is a decreasing pH level in the world's ocean, a process known as ocean acidification.

Ocean acidification (OA) has emerged as a serious threat to calcifying marine organism such as molluscs (Michaelidis et al. 2005), crustaceans (Kurihara et al. 2008), echinoderms (Kurihara and Shirayama 2004; Kurihara et al. 2004; Havenhand et al. 2008), corals (Gattuso et al. 1998; Kleypas et al. 2001; Langdon and Atkinson 2005; Jokiel et al. 2008), large calcareous algae (Kuffner et al. 2008) and some phytoplankton (Iglesias-Rodriguez et al. 2008). OA is also likely to affect the physiology of these organisms. In my thesis, I will focus on the effects of OA on the early life history of marine benthic organisms, in particular, scleractinian corals

#### Ocean acidification and ocean carbon chemistry

Global climate change driven by increased concentration of  $CO_2$  in the atmosphere has created conditions that have already contributed to reef degradation, and will continue to do so in the future. These conditions include: rising sea surface temperatures (Carricart-Ganivet 2004; Crabbe 2007), increased  $CO_2$  concentration in seawater (Feely et al. 2004; Fabry et al. 2008), sea level rise (Bindoff et al. 2007), increase in severity and frequency of tropical storms (Henderson-Sellers et al. 1998; Emanuel 2005) and increased frequency of disease outbreaks (Jones et al. 2004; Boyett et al. 2007). Many authors predict that of these the most significant threat to coral reefs is increasing ocean acidity (Hoegh-Guldberg 2005; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007). Oceans are estimated to have taken up approximately 50% of anthropogenic atmospheric  $CO_2$  as the  $CO_2$  cannot be dissipated by the ocean biological pump, where carbon is transferred from the atmosphere to deep ocean water and sediment thus stored (Sabine et al. 2004). The rate of  $CO_2$  uptake by the ocean is slowing as the  $CO_2$ stored in the deep ocean is saturating (Le Quere et al. 2007) causing the recently emitted  $CO_2$  to be suspended in the pelagic ocean layer. The dissolved  $CO_2$  in the surface layer will acidify the pelagic zone (Caldeira and Wickett 2003), creating an imbalance in carbon chemistry that is predicted to adversely affect the calcification process of marine benthic organisms by decreasing carbonate ion concentrations (Pörtner et al. 2005). Anthropogenic  $CO_2$  can be buffered or neutralized by the dissolution of  $CaCO_3$  from benthic sediments but this process requires thousands of years (Raven et al. 2005).

Carbon dioxide is continuously exchanged between the atmosphere and the ocean. When CO<sub>2</sub> is dissolved in the surface layers of the ocean it reacts with water to form carbonic acid (H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>), bicarbonate (HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) and carbonate (CO<sub>3</sub><sup>2-</sup>) ions (Skirrow and Whitfield 1975). The more CO<sub>2</sub> that is absorbed in the ocean the more carbonic acid is produced, thereby decreasing the ocean's pH. In addition, these reactions reduce the availability of carbonate ions, which are required for calcification (refer to equation below). Such changes in ocean chemistry are predicted to have substantial direct and indirect effects on marine organisms especially those that calcify because they rely on the availability of carbonate ions for growth and development (Goreau and Bowen 1955; Langdon 2000; Cooper et al. 2008; De'ath et al. 2009; Pörtner 2009).

#### Calcification of Marine Organisms

Changes in ocean carbon chemistry are predicted to cause a decrease in calcification because carbonate ions  $(CO_3^{2-})$  are a major component of the calcium carbonate  $(CaCO_3)$ skeletons of coral and other reef-building organisms (Kleypas and Hoegh-Guldberg 2006). Coral calcification occurs when the carbonate ions combine with calcium ions  $(Ca^{2+})$  and when  $CO_2$  admission to seawater exceeds the buffer capacity of the ocean. Carbonate ions become less available, thus preventing the production of the coral skeleton. When  $CO_2$ combines with water to produce carbonic acid  $(H_2CO_3)$ , protons  $(H^+)$  are released and combine with carbonate ions  $(CO_3^{2-})$  to produce bicarbonate ions  $(HCO_3^{-})$ . Hydrogen ions  $(H^+)$  take up  $CO_3^{2-}$  to produce  $H_2CO_3$ , thus making  $CO_3^{2-}$  ions less available for marine organisms' calcification. The chemical reaction describing the entire process is given as:

$$CaCO_3 \rightarrow Ca^{2+} + CO_3^{2-}$$
 (calcification)  
 $\swarrow$   
 $2 H^+ + CO_3^{2-} \leftrightarrow 2HCO_3^{-}$ 

$$CO_2(g) \leftrightarrow CO_2(aq) + H_2O \leftrightarrow H_2CO^3 \leftrightarrow HCO_3^- + H^+$$

The calcification process involves the active transportation of ions from the surrounding seawater and through multiple coral cell layers to the sites of calcification at the calicoblastic layer (Allemand et al. 2004). Calcium ions (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) are actively transported through cell layers from seawater in the ceolenteron to the calicoblastic tissue (Zocolla et al 1999; 2004). Metabolic CO<sub>2</sub> from respiration is utilized for bicarbonate production (Allemand et al. 2004). Carbonic anhydrase forms a family of enzymes that catalyse the rapid conversion of CO<sub>2</sub> to HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>; a reaction that occurs rather slowly in the absence of a catalyst. The enzyme speeds up the following equilibrium:

$$CO_2 + H_2O \leftrightarrow HCO_3 + H^+$$

The bicarbonate ions are absorbed on a mucopolysaccharide in an organic membrane, where they combine with calcium to form the skeleton (Allemand et al. 2004). Although this process is not well understood, it is thought that the carbonate production will be reduced by excessive amounts of  $CO_2$ , thereby lowering the rate of calcification (Pörtner et al. 2005).

#### Aragonite saturation and calcification

While the dissolution of calcium carbonate is primarily driven by the availability of carbonate ions, it is also affected by other factors, such as the chemical structure of calcium carbonate. Calcium carbonate is commonly found in two forms: calcite and aragonite. The aragonite saturation state of ( $\Omega_{arag}$ ) is a measure of the thermodynamic potential for aragonite to form or dissolve; specifically it is the product of the concentrations of the reacting ions that form the mineral (Ca<sup>2+</sup> and CO<sub>3</sub><sup>2-</sup>), divided by the product of the concentrations of the mineral is at equilibrium ( $K_{sp}$ ), that is, when the mineral is neither forming nor dissolving:

$$\Omega_{\text{arag}} = [Ca^+][CO^-]$$

$$\overline{K_{\text{sp}}}$$

When  $\Omega_{arag} > 1.0$ , the formation of aragonite is favourable under ambient sea water temperature; when  $\Omega < 1.0$ , the dissolution of aragonite is favourable, it will cause decrease in the development of coral skeletons (Langdon and Atkinson 2005). Aragonite  $\Omega$  of surface seawater is expected to decrease by 33% throughout the tropics from the presentday values of 3-3.5 to 2-2.5 in 100 years; and the ratio of dissolved  $CO_2$  gas to  $CO_3^{2-}$  will increase by a factor of 4 (Orr et al. 2005). Because coral reefs produce new CaCO<sub>3</sub> at a very slow rate it takes a long time to establish a mature coral colony (Goreau and Goreau 1959).

# Mechanisms by which ocean acidification may affect the early life history of marine organisms

There are two main mechanisms by which ocean acidification may affect the physiology of the early life history stages of marine organisms; by affective calcification as described above, or via hypercapnia. Hypercapnia occurs when increased levels of CO<sub>2</sub> in water enter the organism by diffusion, equilibrates between all body compartments and acts predominantly through its acidifying effect on acid-base balance in body fluids. For example, *Sipunculus nudus* displays a range of reactions in acidified waters including metabolic depression (Pörtner and Reipschlager 1998), reduced rate of tissue acid-base regulation (Pörtner et al. 2005), and reduced rates of protein synthesis (Langenbuch and Pörtner 2002). These suppressions in metabolic activities can lead to cascading effects on an organism's life history, with potential effects on the early life history stages of marine organisms, such as a reduction in growth and survival of larval sea urchins (Shirayama and Thornton 2005 ; Kurihara 2008).

#### Responses of marine invertebrate larvae (MIL) to ocean acidification

Early life history stages of marine invertebrates are often more vulnerable to disturbances than adults (Yund et al. 1987; Kurihara and Shirayama 2004; Kurihara 2008). In most marine invertebrates, many important physiological processes (such as, fertilization, embryogenesis and dispersal, Fig. 1.2) occur in the planktonic stage. These early life history stages are often perceived to be a bottleneck in the life of marine invertebrates with planktonic larvae because mortality during early life normally exceeds 90% (Gosselin and Qian 1997). Therefore, it is important to study the effects of climate change stressors on the early life history stages, as this will determine the success of dispersal and recruitment to new environments.

Ocean acidification reduces the fertilization success of some marine invertebrates. Exposure to CO<sub>2</sub> partial pressure from 1000ppm -10000ppm significantly decreases the swimming speed of sea urchin sperms (Havenhand et al. 2008) and fertilization success (Kurihara and Shirayama 2004; Kurihara et al. 2004). However, these detrimental effects are generally only evident at pCO<sub>2</sub> levels not projected to occur for many decades (Caldeira and Wickett 2003). In contrast, fertilization of sub-tidal echinoids (*Heliocidaris erythrogramma, H. tuberculata, Tripuneustes gratilla, Centrostephanus rodgersii*) is not affected by acidity up to 7.6 pH units (Byrne et al 2009; 2010), which is comparable to projected pH value 300 years in the future (Bindoff et al. 2007, IPCC report). Similarly variable effects have been reported for rates of development and survivorship in a range of marine invertebrate larvae (see review by Byrne 2011).

When I commenced my PhD in 2008, there was only one published study on the effects of OA on the early life history stages of corals (Albright et al. 2008). Research in this area has since blossomed. A thorough examination of the literature on coral larvae to date (Table 1.2) suggests that effects are only evident at very high  $pCO_2$  levels (Nakamura et al. 2011), or when gametes are past their peak (Albright et al. 2010). Nonetheless, there is critical need to explore the effects in a greater range of species from more regions of the globe.

#### Temperature elevation and corals

Short term rises in sea temperature may actually enhance growth and reproduction of coral species (Purcell 2005; Purcell et al. 2007), however long term exposure to elevated temperature can lead to detrimental effects on marine organisms. These effects include reduced growth (Goreau and Macfarlane 1990; Edmunds 2005; Crabbe 2007; Edmunds 2008) and fecundity (Michalek-Wagner and Willis 2001), high rates of mortality (Baird and Marshall 2002; McClanahan et al. 2004), and local extinction leading to the loss of biodiversity (Hoegh-Guldberg 2004; Kleypas and Hoegh-Guldberg 2006) Temperature also has detrimental effects on the early life history stages of corals (Table 1.3). For instance, a slight increase in temperature (1-2°C above ambient SST) enhanced the fertilization (>90%), but also resulted in higher numbers of abnormal embryos (Negri et al. 2007). Similarly, fertilization success was high for Diploria strigosa in elevated temperatures (1- $2^{\circ}$ C) yet throughout embryogenesis, they developed into aberrant embryos (Bassim et al. 2002). Similarly, high temperatures reduce larval survivorship (Baird et al. 2006; Table 1.3) particularly in larvae that contain symbiotic algae (Yakovleva et al. 2009; Nesa et al. 2012).

#### Synergistic effects

In the wild, temperature and OA clearly act on organism at the same time; however, there have been very few experiments to explore the potential synergy between these stressors. The general assumption is that the effect of OA and temperature variables will be additive. Indeed, high  $pCO_2$  acts synergistically with high temperature to lower thermal bleaching thresholds in corals and crustose coralline algae (Anthony et al. 2008). Similarly, growth rates of *Porites panamensis* juveniles were lowest in a combined OA and high temperature

treatment (Anlauf et al. 2011, see Table 1.4). However, the interaction could be antagonistic because while temperature increases metabolism (O'Connor et al. 2009), acidosis reduces it (Pörtner et al. 2004). For example, high temperatures can compensate for dwarfism (that would otherwise eventuate due to reduced calcification) in acidified sea water in *Tripneustustes gratilla* larvae (Sheppard Brennand et al. 2010). Clearly, there is a critical need to explore the effect of this synergy in the early life history of corals.

#### Thesis outline

In chapter two, I test the effect of OA on the early life history of corals using gametes and larvae of four abundant scleractinian corals from the Great Barrier Reef. I used four treatment levels of  $pCO_2$  corresponding to current levels of atmospheric  $CO_2$  and three projected values within this century to test whether fertilization, embryonic development and larval survivorship and metamorphosis were affected by OA. Due to the nature of high mortality in invertebrate larvae (Gosselin and Qian 1997), normally within the first 24 hours the larvae population will experience up to 50% of casualties in the field. In the third chapter I test the effect of OA in combination with elevated temperature on the response variable mentioned above. I used four treatments: control, elevated temperature ( $+2^{\circ}C$ ), elevated acidity (600-700 ppm) and a combination of elevated temperature and acidity. In chapter 4, the final data chapter, I tested the effects of ocean acidification on its own and in combination with elevated temperature on the growth and patterns of skeleton formation in juveniles of Acropora millepora and Acropora tenuis using the treatment levels described above. Finally, I conclude with a general discussion that summarise my work and discuss areas for future work.

In addition to my data chapter I present a paper in an Appendix. The first, I coauthored with my colleague from the School of Molecular Science, JCU, Dr Aurelie Moya (Appendix I). I was involved in designing this experiment, participated in the laboratory work and provided editorial input to the manuscripts. The paper is entitled "Whole transcriptome analysis of the coral *Acropora millepora* reveals complex responses to  $CO_2$ driven acidification during the Initiation of calcification" and it investigates the gene expression in newly settled coral juveniles under near-future acidification levels. This publication is currently in press in Molecular Ecology (Moya et al. 2012). **Figure 1.1**: Coloured lines represent five projected IPCC scenario of  $CO_2$  emissions and concentration in the atmosphere within year 2100 (from Bindoff et al. 2007, IPCC report)



**Figure 1.2**: Schematic diagram of the life cycle of acroporids, with emphasis on the early life history stages. (Ball 2000, unpublished diagram)



**Table 1.1**: Projected changes in ocean surface carbonate chemistry based on IPCC IS92a CO<sub>2</sub> emission scenario. pH is based on seawater scale. Percent changes from preindustrial values are in brackets. (Feely et al. 2004; Guinotte et al. 2006; Fabry et al. 2008)

Parameter	Unit	Glacial	Preindustrial	Present	2050-2100	2100 and
						above
Temperature (T)	°C	15.7	19	19.7	20.7	22.7
Salinity (S)		35.5	34.5	34.5	34.5	34.5
Total alkalinity	µ mol kg⁻¹	2356	2287	2287	2287	2287
(TA)						
$pCO_2$	µatm (aq)/	180	280	380	560	840
	ppm (g)	(-56)	(0)	(35.7)	(100)	(200)
Carbonic acid	µ mol kg⁻¹	7	9	13	18	25
$(H_2CO_3)$		(-29)	(0)	(44)	(100)	(178)
Bicarbonate ion	µ mol kg⁻¹	1666	1739	1827	1925	2004
$(\text{HCO}_3)$		(-4)	(0)	(5)	(11)	(15)
Carbonate ion	µ mol kg⁻¹	279	222	186	146	115
$(CO_3^{2-})$		(20)	(0)	(-16)	(-34)	(-48)
Hydrogen ion	µ mol kg⁻¹	$4.79 \times$	$6.92 \times 10^{-3}$	$8.92 \times$	$1.23  imes 10^{-2}$	$1.74 \times 10^{-2}$
$(\mathrm{H}^{+})$		$10^{-3}$	(0)	$10^{-3}(29)$	(78)	(151)
		(-45)				
Calcite saturation		6.63	5.32	4.46	3.52	2.77
$(\Omega_{\rm calc})$		(20)	(0)	(-16)	(-34)	(-48)
Aragonite		4.26	3.44	2.9	2.29	1.81
saturation ( $\Omega_{arag}$ )		(19)	(0)	(-16)	(-33)	(-47)
Dissolved	μ mol kg <sup>-1</sup>	1952	1970	2026	2090	2144
inorganic carbon (DIC)		(-1)	(0)	(2.8)	(6.1)	(8.8)
Total pH		8.32	8.16	8.05	7.91	7.76

categorized according to the current  $pCO_2$ , near future and past 2100  $pCO_2$  value. Plus signs (+) denote increase, minus signs (-) denote decrease, compared to control values. year 2050 2100 2100 +  $pCO_2$  atmosphere 450-700 700-1000 1000 + pH ocean 7.9 - 8.0 7.7-7.9 <7.7

Table 1.2: A summary of previous research on the effects of ocean acidification on the early life history stages of corals. Columns are

		pH ocean	7.9 - 8.0	7.7-7.9	<7.7
		aragonite saturation state	2.2 - 3.2	1.2-2.2	<1.5
<b>Responses variable</b>	study	species			
Fertilization					
optimal sperm conc.	Albright et al. 2010	Acropora palmata	- 7%	- 12%	
mid sperm conc.	Albright et al. 2010	Acropora palmata	NS	NS	
mid-low sperm conc.	Albright et al. 2010	Acropora palmata	- 64%	- 63%	
low sperm conc	Albright et al. 2010	Acropora palmata	NS	NS	
Sperm motility					
	Morita et al. 2010	Acropora digitifera		- 33%	- 71%
Survivorship					
	Nakamura et al. 2011	Acropora digitifera		NS	NS
	Suwa et al. 2010	Acropora digitifera		NS	
	Suwa et al. 2010	Acropora tenuis		+	
Settlement					
	Albright et al. 2008	Porites astreoides	NS	NS	
	Albright et al. 2010	Acropora palmata	- 45%	- 65%	
*non-acidified tiles	Albright & Langdon 2011	Porites astreoides (z)	NS	NS	
*acidified tiles	Albright & Langdon 2011	Porites astreoides (z)	- 45%	- 55%	
*acidified tiles	Albright & Langdon 2011	Porites astreoides (z)	- 42%	- 60%	
non-acidified tiles	Doropoulos et al. 2012	Acropora millepora		- 58%	- 75%
acidified tiles	Doropoulos et al. 2012	Acropora millepora		- 82%	- 45%
acidified tiles and larvae	Doropoulos et al. 2012	Acropora millepora		- 50%	- 60%

(for 60 days)

2 days acidity exposure	Nakamura et al. 2011	Acropora digitifera		- 20 %	- 20 %
7 days acidity exposure	Nakamura et al. 2011	Acropora digitifera		- 80%	- 80%
Planulae Metabolism					
	Albright & Langdon 2011	Porites astreoides (z)	- 27%	- 63%	
	Nakamura et al. 2011	Acropora digitifera		NS	NS
<b>Post-settlement Growth</b>					
	Albright et al. 2008	Porites astreoides	- 45-56%	- 72-84%	
	Albright et al. 2010	Acropora palmata	- 39%	- 50%	
	Albright & Langdon 2011	Porites astreoides (z)	- 16%	- 35%	
lateral	Cohen et al. 2009	Favia fragum (z)		- 20%	- 75%
weight	de Putron et al. 2011	Favia fragum(z)	NS		- 37%
weight	de Putron et al. 2011	Porites Astreoides	NS		- 36%
	Inoue et al. 2011	Acropora digitifera		- 4%	- 25%
	Kurihara 2008	Acropora tenuis		- growth	
	Suwa et al. 2010	Acropora digitifera			- 16%
Symbiont uptake					
	Suwa et al. 2010	Acropora digitifera		NS	

\*Note: The settlement substrates used in this study were: non-acidified tiles (limestone tiles conditioned with ambient seawater of 380ppm for 40 days) and acidified tiles (limestone tiles conditioned with treatment seawater of 560 or 860 ppm for 40 days). When results are insignificant, they are classified as 'no effect'. 'z' indicates coral species with vertically transferred zooxanthellae.

**Table 1.3:** A summary of previous research on the effects of ocean warming on the early life history stages of corals. Columns are categorized according to the current average sea temperature, near future and post-2100 sea temperature values. Plus signs (+) denote increase, minus signs (-) denote decrease, compared to control values.

		year		2012	2050	2100	2100 +
		temperature (°C)	ambient	ambient	plus 2	plus 4	plus 4 and above
<b>Responses variable</b>	study	species					
Fertilization							
	Bassim et al. 2002	Diploria strigosa	30	41.3	+4.7%		
	Negri et al. 2007	Acropora millepora	28	>90%	NS	NS	- 87%
	Negri et al. 2007	Acropora millepora	26		- 30%	- 30%	- 50%
	Negri et al. 2007	Favites abdita	26		NS	NS	
	Negri et al. 2007	Favites chinensis	25.5	>80%	NS	NS	NS
	Negri et al. 2007	Mycedium elephantotus.	26		NS	NS	
Development							
Abnormality	Bassim et al. 2002	Diploria strigosa	30	22%	+18.5%		
Cell division	Negri et al. 2007	Acropora millepora	26		+ 10-20%	+ 10-20%	
Abnormality	Negri et al. 2007	Acropora millepora	26		+ 10%	+ 10%	10-50%
Cell division	Negri et al. 2007	Favites abdita	26		+ 10-20%	+ 10-20%	
Abnormality	Negri et al. 2007	Favites abdita	26		+ 10%	+ 10%	
Cell division	Negri et al. 2007	Mycedium elephantotus.	26		+ 10-20%	+ 10-20%	
Abnormality	Negri et al. 2007	Mycedium elephantotus.	26		+ 10%	+ 10%	
	Randall & Szmant 2009b	Acropora palmata	28		NS	+ at 31.5°C	
Survivorship							
	Baird et al. 2006	*Acropora muricata (azoox)	28	30%		NS	
	Baird et al. 2006	*Acropora muricata (zoox)	28	30%		NS	

	Bassim & Sammarco 2003	Diploria strigosa	28	56%	- 29%	- 41%	
	Coles 1985	Pocillopora damicornis	25	4.3	- 28%	- 47%	- 28%
	Edmunds et al. 2001	Porites astreoides (z)	28	89%			- 41% at 33°C
	Randall & Szmant 2009b	Acropora palmata	28	34-64%	- 15%	-55% at 31.5°C	
	Randall & Szmant 2009a	Favia fragum	27	> 60%	NS	- 40%	- 50%
Post-settlement survivorship							
-	Nozowa & Harrison 2007	Acropora soliaryensis	23	>70%	NS at 26°C		- 90%
	Nozowa & Harrison 2007	Favite chinensis	27	<20%		NS	- 10%
Metamorphosis							
	Bassim & Sammarco 2003	Diploria strigosa	28	70%	- 5%	- 64%	
	Coles 1985	Pocillopora damicornis	25	2.8	+ 60%	+ 30%	+ 96%
	Nozowa & Harrison 2000	Platygyra daedalea	27	24.6%	+27.2%		
	Nozowa & Harrison 2007	Acropora soliaryensis	23	2.6%	+ 2.4% at 26°C		12%
	Nozowa & Harrison 2007	Favite chinensis	27	25%		+ 5%	+ 15%
	Randall & Szmant 2009b	Acropora palmata	28	62%	- 19%	- 25% at 31.5°C	
	Randall & Szmant 2009a	Favia fragum	27	82%	+ 3%		- 48%

Note: A. muricata is a coral species with azooxanthellae larvae, zooxanthellae was introduced to A. muricata larvae in Baird et al

(2006)
**Table 1.4**: A summary of results from the only publication (for the period 2008-2011) that studied the synergy effects of ocean acidification and warming on the early life history stages of a brooding coral species, Porites panamensis (Anlauf et al. 2011).

 Columns are categorized according to the ocean acidification and warming regimes used in this study. Plus signs (+) denote increase, minus signs (-) denote decrease, compared to control values.

	Acidity (pH)	Warming (°C)	acidity and warming
Responses variable	decreased 0.2-0.25 units	increased 1-1.2 °C	
Post-settlement survival		- 10%	- 4%
Biomass	- 20%	- 22%	- 40%
Calcification (dry weight)	- 2%	+ 9%	- 28%
Symbiont uptake	- 5%	- 50%	- 10%

# Chapter 2: Near-future reductions in pH have no consistent ecological effects in the early life history stages of reef corals

This chapter was in review in PLOS One May 2012.

### Introduction

Global climate change has the potential to detrimentally affect coral reefs in many ways. In particular, increasing ocean acidity is predicted to be one of the most severe threats to marine ecosystems before the end of this century (Kleypas et al. 1999; Orr et al. 2005). Ocean acidification (OA) is caused by alteration of water chemistry through  $CO_2$  absorption from the atmosphere, in particular, a decrease in seawater pH, carbonate ion concentration ( $CO_3^{2-}$ ) and the saturation state of aragonite. Recent changes in ocean chemistry, for example a decrease in pH of 0.1 units since before the industrial revolution (Caldeira and Wickett 2005), have already had pronounced effects on many calcifying marine organisms (Kroeker et al. 2012). Decreases in aragonite saturation projected to occur within this century are predicted to result in the net dissolution of calcium carbonate on coral reefs (Silverman et al. 2009).

To date, much of the research into OA has focused on its effects on adults and, in particular, the process of calcification. However, the early life history stages of marine organisms are also likely to be sensitive to changes in ocean chemistry (Portner et al. 2004; Byrne 2010; Kroeker et al. 2010). Hypercapnia, defined as an increase in the partial pressure of  $CO_2$  in the respiratory fluids, is well known to affect acid-base regulation, oxygen transport and metabolic function (Portner et al. 2004). Similarly, high  $CO_2$  concentration in sea water has a narcotic effect on sperm, reducing motility (Havenhand et al. 2008, Morita et al. 2010). While hypercapnia and CO<sub>2</sub> narcosis may not necessarily be detrimental, responding to changes in the partial pressure of CO<sub>2</sub> will be energetically costly and therefore has the potential to affect growth and reproductive output following prolonged exposure (Portner et al. 2004) in the absence of acclimitization. Lowered metabolism is possibly responsible for reduced rates of early development in larval of the sea urchin *Hemicentrotus pulcherrimus* at low pH (Kurihara and Shirayama 2004). Reduced rates of larval development are likely to extend pelagic durations with possible increases in rates of mortality and reduced recruitment success (Connolly and Baird 2010). Such changes are also likely to reduce levels of connectivity among affected organisms and therefore have the potential to affect rates of recovery from disturbance (Munday et al. 2009).

The effects of decreased pH on the early life history of corals remain largely unexplored and results are variable (Table 1). For example, fertilization success in *Acropora palmata* was reduced at low sperm densities at pH of 7.85 and 7.72 (Albright et al. 2010), possibly because of reduced sperm motility (Morita et al. 2010). However, these levels of pH had no effect on fertilization success (Albright et al. 2010) when sperm concentrations were closer to those expected in the field in the hour immediately following spawning when most fertilization is likely to occur (Oliver and Babcock 1992). In addition, gametes were mixed by three hours after spawning and fertilization was scored a hour after this Albright et al. (2010) a time at which *Acropora* gametes have dramatically reduced fertility (Oliver and Babcock 1992). Similarly, larval survivorship differed among pH treatments in *A. tenuis*, but not in *A. digitifera* (Suwa et al. 2010). However, the difference in survivorship among treatments was not that expected if pH had

a dose dependent or threshold effect. Indeed, there was no difference between either pH treatment and the control in A. tenuis, rather the difference was between the 7.6 and 7.3 pH treatments with survivorship significantly higher in the low pH treatment (Suwa et al. 2010). The respiration of A. digitifera larvae was not affected by pH as low as 7.3 (Nakamura et al. 2011). In contrast, the respiration rates of Porites asteroides larvae declined as pH decreased (Albright and Langdon 2011). The effects of decreased pH on larval metamorphosis are also variable (Table 1). Albright et al. (2008) found no effect of pH on the metamorphosis of *Porites asteroides*. Similarly, metamorphosis of *A. digitifera* was unaffected by a 2 day exposure to pH values of 7.6 and 7.3 (Nakamura et al. 2011). However, after 7 days of exposure metamorphosis was 80% lower in the reduced pH treatments (Nakamura et al. 2011). The effects of pH on larval metamorphosis may be indirect and mediated through a change in the settlement substratum (Albright et al. 2010). Metamorphosis is often reduced when settlement substratum have been conditioned in treated seawater suggesting that low pH affects the organisms, such as crustose coralline algal, that induced larval metamorphosis, or interferes with the coral larvae's ability to sense these cues (Albright et al. 2010, Albright and Langdon 2011). However, even in this situation, the results are highly variable and do not always follow the response expected if pH was to have either a dose dependent or threshold effect. For example, metamorphosis of A. millepora larvae was reduced by 82% on settlement substrata that had been treated at pH 7.3 for six weeks, but there was no effect of metamorphosis on substrata treated at pH of 7.6 (Doropoulos et al. 2012). Similarly, while metamorphosis was lower when either the larvae or the substrate were treated at pH 7.6, there was no effect when both larvae and substrata were treated at this pH. Clearly,

there is an urgent need to examine the response to pH in the larvae of a greater range of coral species to see if any general patterns emerge.

Here, we manipulated pH levels to produce seawater with a range of potential pH values projected to occur at various stages later this century. The effects of these levels of pH were then tested on a number of processes crucial to successful coral recruitment: 1) larval development, 2) larval survivorship and 3) metamorphosis.

### Materials and method

## Collection of gravid colonies

Gametes of *Acropora tenuis* and *A. hyacinthus* were collected at Magnetic Island (19° 9'S, 146° 50'E) in October 2009 and gametes of *A. millepora* collected at Orpheus Island (18° 35'S, 146° 29'E) in November and December 2009. Adult colonies were collected a few days prior to the predicted spawning period, and maintained in outdoor aquaria. *A. tenuis* and *A. hyacinthus* spawned on the night of 9<sup>th</sup> October and 13<sup>th</sup> October respectively. *A. millepora* colonies spawned on 10<sup>th</sup> November, and the 10<sup>th</sup> December and 11<sup>th</sup> December.

### Experimental manipulation of pH.

The experiments were performed in a temperature control room  $(26^{\circ}\text{C}-27^{\circ}\text{C})$ . A CO<sub>2</sub> mixing system, developed by Munday et al. (2009), was used to bubble CO<sub>2</sub> through seawater at concentrations chosen to match the projections of the IPCC (2007) over the next 80 years: 550, 750 and 1000 ppm. CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations were measured with a

Vaisala 0 probe. CO<sub>2</sub> was bubbled through 70 1 sump tanks and the enriched water flowed through replicates jars via a one-way flow-through system. pH was measured every 24 h in the sump tank of each treatment (Table 2.1, 2.2 & 2.3) using TPS WP91 meter calibrated daily using Tris and NBS buffers. Temperature and dissolved O<sub>2</sub> were also measured using TPS WP-91 DO, pH and temperature meter.

### The effect of acidification on development

Embryos were cultured following Babcock et al. (2003). Sperm and egg bundles were collected from between four and 6 colonies of each species, each colony was presumed to be genetically distinct. Once cleavage was observed, approximately 1000 embryos were placed in each of three replicate 3.5 l plastic jars, modified to allow  $0.2 \mu m$  filtered CO<sub>2</sub> treated sea water to flow through at the rate of 1.5 to 2 l per hour. At 12, 18, 24 and 36h after the gametes were mixed 20 embryos were removed from each jar for *A*. *tenuis* and *A. hyacinthus* and 10 embryos for *A. millepora* and the number that had completed gastrulation was scored. To test for differences in development time among treatments, the average time for embryos to reach gastrulation was estimated as follows

Average time to reach stage,  $\overline{X} = \Sigma$  [time (hours) x number of propagules to reach stage]/ [number of propagules to reach stage] Metamorphosis of *Acropora* larvae typically peaks between 6 and 10 days after spawning (Connolly and Baird 2010). Therefore, the age of larvae used to test for effects of pH on larval metamorphosis were: *A. hyacinthus* - 8 days old; *A. millepora Nov* - 6 days old; *A. millepora Dec* - 9 days old. Ten larvae of *A. hyacinthus* and 20 larvae of *A. millepora Nov and A. millepora Dec* were taken from each of the 3.5 l jars and placed into each well of a 6-well Iwaki cell culture plate with a modified meshed lid. A 2 mm x 2 mm crustose coralline algae (CCA) chip (*Neogolithion* sp. for the *A. hyacinthus* assay and *Titanoderma* sp. for *A. millepora*) was also placed in each well to induce metamorphosis (following Heyward and Negri 1999) and the wells, covered by plankton mesh to retain the larvae, were completely immersed in the CO<sub>2</sub> treated seawater and the number of larvae that completed metamorphosis was assessed 24 h later. Larvae were defined as metamorphosed once a basal disc had been deposited (Baird and Babcock 2000).

### The effect of acidification on larval survivorship

To test whether reduced pH would have a direct effect on larval survivorship, 50 motile larvae (4 days old) were introduced into three replicate 200 ml plastic jars with mesh lids which were then immersed in the  $CO_2$  enriched seawater. The number of surviving larvae was counted every 24 h at which point the seawater in the jars was competently replaced. This period is sufficient for dead larvae to lyse and disappear (Baird et al. 2006). Larvae were followed for between five and 7 days depending on the experiment.

### Data analysis

Mean differences in the time to gastrulation were tested with 1-way ANOVA: the treatment factor was pH with four levels that differed slightly among assays (Tables 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3). Mean differences in the number of larva completing metamorphosis were tested with 2-way ANOVA: the first factor was pH (fixed) with four levels; the second factor, plate (random, n=3) was nested within treatment. There were 6 replicate wells in each plate. Each species on each occasion was analyzed independently (i.e. three to five separate assays depending on the response variable) because the pH values were slightly different in each assay (Tables 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3). Bonferroni correction was used to adjust the probability of type I error (i.e. probability was considered significant when p < p0.05/number of assays). Tukey's HSD multiple comparison tests were conducted when ANOVAs detected significant differences among the main factors. Any bias in these data was explored by residual analysis. Only the A. millepora Nov data for metamorphosis required a  $\log_{10} (x + 1)$  transformation. Differences in the median survival time in days among treatments were tested using Kaplan-Meier survival analysis. All analyses were performed in SPSS version 20.

### Results

### The effect of pH on larval development

The mean time to gastrulation did not vary consistently among as a function of pH (Fig. 2.1). *A. tenuis* larvae developed more slowly at the lowest pH (Fig. 2.1A;  $F_{3, 225} = 4.27$ ; p = 0.006). In contrast, *A. hyacinthus* larvae developed more slowly in the control and low pH (Fig. 2.1B;  $F_{3, 225} = 4.31$ ; p = 0.006). In the *A. millepora Nov* assay there was

no significant difference in development times among the pH treatments (Fig. 2.1C;  $F_{3, 116} = 2.5$ ; p = 0.06). Finally, in *A. millepora Dec*, development was slower at the lower and lowest pH (Fig 2.1D;  $F_{3, 116} = 3.13$ ; p = 0.029).

### The effect of pH on larval survivorship

Median survivorship did not vary among pH treatments in either of the two species tested (Fig 2.2). In *A. tenuis*, median survivorship was highest in the lowest pH treatment; however, the 95% confidence intervals indicate that this was not significantly different to the control pH (Fig 2.2A). In *A. millepora Nov* median survivorship was lower in the two lowest pH treatments; however, there was no significant difference between these values and the control (Fig 2.2B).

# The effect of pH on metamorphosis

The mean number of larvae completing metamorphosis was only affected by pH in the *A. millepora Dec* assay (Fig. 2.3). The number of larval completing metamorphosis did not differ among the pH treatments in *A. hyacinthus* (Fig. 2.3A  $F_{3, 2} = 1.54$ ; p < 0.211) or *A. millepora Nov* (Fig. 2.3B;  $F_{3, 2} = 0.71$ ; p = 0.551). In contrast, the number of *A. millepora Dec* that completed metamorphosed was higher in the lower and lowest pH treatments (Fig. 2.3C;  $F_{3, 2} = 7.77$ ; p < 0.001).

## Discussion

Simulated levels of pH projected to occur at various stages later this century did not have a consistent effect on the pre-settlement stages of these three *Acropora* species. In most assays, no significant differences were apparent between the three pH treatments and controls. In the few assays where an effect was detected, this was often opposite to the expected trend. For example, the metamorphosis of *A. millepora* was higher at the two lowest pH levels (Fig. 2.2C) and rates of development were slower in *A. hyacinthus* at the two highest levels of pH. This suggests that projected levels of pH will not threaten the early life history stages of these corals species until at the at least the end of the century.

Development rates of coral embryos were not consistently affected by pH. In two assays the prediction of a slower rate of development at reduced pH did occur (Fig 2.1A, C), however, effect was small, with a increase in the mean time to complete gastrulation of approximately of between 2 to 4 h (approximately 15%). This difference is much lower than the typical differences among individuals within a cohort in the time taken to reach other important dispersal related stages, such as the time to become competent (Connolly and Baird 2010). These results contrast with the effects of pH on development rates in other organisms. For example, *Littoria obtusata* embryos in a pH 7.6 treatment took 1.5 days longer to hatch when compared to controls (Ellis et al. 2009). Similarly, larval development in sea urchins (Kurihara and Shirayama 2004) and oysters (Kurihara et al. 2007) is slower at low pH. However, both these species have a larval test and it is perhaps the absence of calcareous skeleton that makes coral larvae less likely to be affected by low pH.

Rates of larval survivorship were not affected by reduced pH. Similarly, larval survivorship did not differ between controls and reduced pH treatments for *A. digitifera* or *A. tenuis* larvae (Suwa et al. 2010). In contrast, in sea urchins (Kurihara 2008) and brittle stars (Dupont et al. 2010) survival was lower at reduced pH. However, once again,

both these species have a larval test which may predispose them to being affected by low pH.

Metamorphosis was not consistently affected by pH. Indeed, metamorphosis in *A. millepora\_Dec* was higher under the two lowest pH treatments (Fig. 2.3C). Results from the literature are similarly inconsistent. Albright et al. (2008) found no effect of pH on metamorphosis in *Porites asteroides* larvae. Similarly, rates of metamorphosis in *Porites panamensis* were not affected by a 0.2-0.25 unit decrease in pH (Anlauf et al. 2011). In contrast, Nakamura et al. (2011) did find an effect but only in *A. digitifera* larvae exposed for 7 days to pH levels not expected until well into the next century. While Albright et al. (2010) did record reduced metamorphosis under reduced pH treatments, they suggested the effect was indirect, i.e. through changes in the nature of the settlement substratum rather than a direct effect on the larvae; an hypothesis supported to some extent by more recent work (Albright and Langdon 2011; Doropoulos et al. 2012). Nonetheless, no mechanism has been proposed to explain this phenomenon. Furthermore, the effects presented by Doropoulos et al. (2012) are not consistent with either a dose dependent or threshold effect in all their experiments, as discussed above.

The gametes and larvae of many marine invertebrates are exposed to large daily fluctuations in environmental variables, including pH. For example, the pH in many shallow coastal areas, including coral reefs, varies markedly over very short periods. For example, in sub-surface waters directly above the reef crest, pH varied by 0.2 units in 4 h (Gagliano et al. 2010). Similarly, diurnal oscillations in pH above coral colonies varied by 0.5 units (Odhe and van Woesik 1999). Indeed, naturally oscillating pH actually stimulates the growth of coral recruits (Dufault et al. 2012). The gametes of many species

are equipped with constitutive defenses against low pH in order to deal with these environmental fluctuations (Hamdoun and Epel 2007; Byrne et al. 2009 & 2010). Given these fluctuations in pH in the reef environment it is perhaps no surprise that effects of pH are generally inconsistent and often only evident at very low levels (Table 1.2).

In conclusion, projected ocean acidification levels in the near future appear unlikely to have major direct ecological effects on the non-calcifying early life history stages of corals. Our results, and a careful reading of the literature on the effects of reduced pH on coral larvae (Table 1.2), suggests that direct effects are only evident at very low pH levels (Nakamura et al. 2011), or when gametes have lost vitality (Albright et al. 2010). One possible source of the inconsistency in our results is the small number of adults, typically between four and six individuals, used to produce the larvae for experiments. Sampling effects from the use of low numbers of brood stock may result in high variability in the genetic composition among different larval cultures. Parental effects on coral larval traits, such as metamorphosis and metabolism, can be large (Meyer et al 2009). Consequently, future work should aim to incorporate parental effects into experimental designs. Alternatively, organism may be able to acclimatize relatively quickly to changes in pH, particularly as large diurnal fluctuations appear common in the environment.

The lack of major affects on larval ecology does not mean that ocean acidification is not a threat to other stages in a corals life history. There are strong theoretic and empirical reasons for expecting an effect on physiology (Portner et al. 2004) and patterns of gene expression vary dramatically as levels of pH decrease (Moya et al. 2012). The consequences of energy expenditure on cellular acid-base regulation and lowered metabolism are perhaps unlikely to be apparent in short term ecological experiments. In particular, growth, reproduction and competitive ability are all likely to be affected by increases in ocean acidity over a longer time frame (Anthony et al. 2008; Fabricius et al. 2011). Finally, increased concentrations of atmospheric  $CO_2$  are also resulting in the warming of the ocean via the green house effect (Hendriks et al. 2010). Consequently, marine organisms must deal with both low pH and high temperatures and future work should explore the possible synergistic effects of these stressors on coral larval ecology.

### Acknowledgements

We thank P. Munday for his help designing the  $CO_2$  mixing system, D. Miller's coral genomics group for help with larvae culture and data collection, E. Graham for statistical advice and L. Harrington for CCA identification. P. Munday offered constructive criticism on an earlier draft of the manuscript. This study was supported by funding from the ARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies.

<i>Desired-p</i> CO <sub>2</sub> in ppm	рН	Dissolved O <sub>2</sub> (% saturated)	Temperature (°C)
Ambient	$8.18\pm0.01$	$89.7\pm2.0$	25.4±0.3
550	$8.07\pm0.01$	$88.3 \pm 1.9$	$25.2\pm0.2$
750	$7.97\pm0\ .02$	$85.3\pm2.1$	$25.5\pm0.2$
1000	$7.87\pm0.02$	$85.9\pm2.3$	$25.7\pm0.3$

 Table 2.1: Water parameters measurements Oct 2009 with 1 standard error value for

 experiments conducted

<i>Desired-p</i> CO <sub>2</sub> in ppm	рН	Dissolved O <sub>2</sub> (% saturated)	Temperature (°C)
Ambient	$8.17\pm0.03$	87.3 ± 2.5	$27.0 \pm 0.4$
550	$8.14\pm0.03$	$85.3\pm1.6$	$26.8\ \pm 0.2$
750	$8.02\pm0~.02$	$84.5\pm2.1$	$26.9\pm0.4$
1000	$7.87 \pm 0.02$	$84.4\pm2.2$	$26.8\pm0.4$

 Table 2.2: Water parameters measurements Nov 2009 with 1 standard error value for experiments conducted

<i>Desired-p</i> CO <sub>2</sub> in ppm	рН	Dissolved O <sub>2</sub> (% saturated)	Temperature (°C)
Ambient	8.13 ± 0.04	$82.1\pm0.8$	$27.5 \pm 0.2$
550	$8.05\pm0.01$	$80.5\pm0.9$	$27.6\pm0.2$
750	$7.96\pm0\;.03$	$80.4 \pm 1.4$	$28.0\pm0.1$
1000	$7.84\pm0.02$	$78.5\pm2.7$	$27.8\pm0.1$

 Table 2.3: Water parameters measurements Dec 2009 with 1 standard error value for experiments conducted

**Figure 2.1**: Time in hours to reach gastrula (mean + SE) in four separate experiments (A = *Acropora tenuis*, B = *A. hyacinthus*, C = *A. millepora Nov* and D = *A. millepora Dec*) under four acidity treatments (1 =  $pCO_2$  of 380ppm, 2 = 550 ppm, 3 = 750 ppm and 4 = 1000 ppm).



**Figure 2.2**: Survivorship (mean number of larvae alive  $\pm$ SE) in three separate experiments (A = *A. tenuis*, B = *A. millepora Nov*) under four acidity treatments (Key: 1 = Ambient *p*CO<sub>2</sub>, 2 = 550 ppm, 3 = 750ppm and 4 = 1000 ppm).



**Figure 2.3**: Metamorphosis (mean %  $\pm$ SE) in three separate experiments (A = *Acropora hyacinthus*, B = *A. millepora Nov* and C = *A. millepora Dec*) under four acidity treatments (1 = *p*CO<sub>2</sub> of 380ppm, 2 = 550 ppm, 3 = 750 ppm and 4 = 1000 ppm).



# Chapter 3: Effects of ocean acidification on ocean warming on the early life history stages of corals.

This chapter was in review in Marine Ecology Progress Series in April 2012.

### Introduction:

Increasing carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) concentrations in the atmosphere are causing the oceans to warm. Sea surface temperatures have risen by a global average of 0.7 °C since the industrial revolution (Feely et al. 2009) and are predicted to rise by a further 2 to 3 °C by the end of the century under the IPCC A2 scenario (Bindoff et al. 2007, IPCC report). In addition, the absorption of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> is changing ocean chemistry; decreasing seawater pH and reducing the availability of carbonate ions (CO<sub>3</sub><sup>2-</sup>). Ocean pH has decreased by 0.1 units since the 1950s and is projected to decrease by a further 0.2 to 0.3 units by the end of the century (Feely et al. 2009).

The effects rising sea surface temperature on marine organisms are well documented. Symbiotic organisms, such as corals, seem particularly sensitive to positive thermal anomalies (Baird et al. 2009), and the resulting coral bleaching has a range of ecological effects from reductions in growth, reproduction and competitive ability to high mortality of individuals over large spatial scales (see review in McClanahan et al. 2004). In contrast, the effects of ocean acidification are less obvious, in part because the effects are often sub-lethal (Fabricius et al. 2011). Early experiments suggested a linear decline in calcification in response to a declining aragonite saturation state (Langdon and Atkinson 2005), however, more recent work indicates that the response is highly variable among species and dependent upon experimental technique (see review in Pandolfi et al. 2011).

The effects of temperature on the early life history stages of coral are also well documented. For example, increases in temperature of 1-2 °C above ambient levels result in high numbers of abnormally developed larvae (Negri et al. 2007; Bassim et al. 2002). Similarly, high temperatures reduce larval survivorship (Baird et al. 2006) particularly in larvae that contain symbiotic algae (Yakovleva et al. 2009; Nesa et al. 2012). In contrast, the effects of OA on coral larval ecology are much more variable and direct effects are only evident at very high  $pCO_2$  or when gametes and larvae are past their peak (see discussion in Chapter 2).

In the wild these two stressors clearly act on organism at the same time, however, there have been very few experiments to explore the potential synergy between OA and temperature. The general assumption is that the effect of OA and temperature variables will be additive. High  $pCO_2$  acts synergistically with high temperature and significantly lowered thermal bleaching thresholds in corals and crustose coralline algae (Anthony et al. 2008). Similarly, growth rates of *Porites panamensis* juveniles were lowest in a combined OA and high temperature treatment (Anlauf et al 2011). However, the interaction could be antagonistic because while temperature increases metabolism (O'Connor et al. 2009) acidosis reduces it (Pörtner 2004). For example, high temperatures can compensate for dwarfism that would otherwise eventuate due to reduced calcification in acidified sea water in *Tripneustustes gratilla* larvae (Sheppard Brennand et al. 2010).

In this chapter, I tested the synergistic effects of elevated temperature and  $CO_2$  on the early life history stages of two common spawning acroporids of the Northern Great Barrier Reef region. Hypothesis: elevated temperature and  $CO_2$  will decrease the success of fertilization, development, survivorship and settlement of *A. tenuis* and *A. millepora* propagules.

### Materials and method

### Collection of gravid colonies

Gametes of *Acropora tenuis*, and *A. millepora* were collected at Magnetic Island (19° 9'S, 146° 50'E) and Orpheus Island (18° 35'S, 146° 29'E) in 2010. Adult colonies were collected a few days prior to the predicted spawning period, and maintained in outdoor aquaria. *A. tenuis* and *A. millepora* from Magnetic Island spawned on the nights of the 28<sup>th</sup> of October, the 1<sup>st</sup> of November and the 2<sup>nd</sup> of November 2010, respectively. *A. millepora* colonies from Orpheus Island spawned on the 22<sup>nd</sup> of November and the 30<sup>th</sup> of November 2010. In each experiment sperm and eggs from 4-6 colonies were used to represent a population of spawners in the field.

### Experimental manipulation of ocean acidification and warming.

The CO<sub>2</sub> tanks were prepared in a temperature control room (26°C-27°C). Two levels of CO<sub>2</sub> concentration (ambient and elevated pCO<sub>2</sub>) and two levels of temperature exposure (ambient 27°C and +2°C) were selected as recommended by the EPOCA protocol (Barry et al. 2010). The treatments levels were: ambient (normal temperature and CO<sub>2</sub> concentration), 650-750 ppm CO<sub>2</sub> (High CO<sub>2</sub>), 29°C (High Temp) and a combination of elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> and 29°C (T x CO<sub>2</sub>).

A CO<sub>2</sub> mixing system developed by Munday et al. (2009) with modifications to the gas mixing chamber and gas mixing outlet was used to suit the coral larval culture. Experimental temperatures were maintained by using water baths via heating using aquarium heaters (Eheim Jager 300W aquarium heaters) and tank temperatures were measured twice daily throughout the experimentation period. The desired gas  $CO_2$ 

concentration was produced using a  $CO_2$  mixing system and the  $CO_2$  concentration was measured in ppm units using a  $CO_2$  gas probe (Vaisala ®). The mixed gases were bubbled through 250 L sump tanks to enrich the water (refer to methods in Chapter 2) and water chemistry parameters (pH, DO and temperature) and corresponding total alkalinity (TA) were measured for each treatment throughout the experiment (Table 3.1) by using fixed end point titration methods.

## The effect of elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> and warming on fertilization

For this experiment I used similar method of fertilization experiment in Chapter 2, however the fertilization was induced to elevated  $CO_2$  and temperature regimes.

## The effect of elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> and warming on development

For this experiment I used similar method of time to stage development experiment in Chapter 2, however the fertilization was induced to elevated  $CO_2$  and temperature regimes.

# The effect of elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> and warming on metamorphosis

Metamorphosis of *Acropora* larvae typically peaks between 6 to10 days after spawning (Connolly and Baird 2010). The age of larvae used to test for effects of pCO2 on larval metamorphosis were: *A. hyacinthus* - 7 days old; *A. millepora* - 7 days old. Ten or 20 larvae from each of the 3.5 L jars were placed into each well of a 6-well Iwaki cell culture plate with a modified meshed lid. A 2 mm x 2 mm crustose coralline algae (CCA) chip (*Titanoderma sp.*) was also placed in each well to induce metamorphosis following Heyward and Negri (1999) and the wells were then immersed in treated seawater and the

number of larvae that completed metamorphosis was assessed 24 h later. Larvae were defined as metamorphosed once a basal disc had been deposited (Baird and Babcock 2000).

### The effect of elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> on survivorship

The survivorship was conducted with fertilized larvae (2 cells stage) and was unsuccessful due to the high mortality and subsequent contamination in survivorship replicate jars (due to the high buoyancy of the new born larvae). The motile larvae are chosen as it will represent the time in plankton prior to settlement under stressed conditions minus the issue of larvae density. Fifty motile larvae (4 days old) were introduced into 3 replicate jars with a mesh lid, and immersed in the  $CO_2$  enriched tanks. Numbers of surviving larvae were scored every 24 hours. This period is sufficient for dead larvae to lyse and disappear from the cultures (Baird et al. 2006). Larvae survival rates were followed up to 14 days in each treatment.

### Data analysis

Mean differences in the proportion of eggs fertilized, time to complete gastrulation, time to become motile and the number of larvae completing metamorphosis among the four treatments were tested with a fully factorial two-way ANOVA. The factors were temperature (fixed, two levels: 27 and 29 C) and  $pCO_2$  (fixed, 380 and 700). Each experiment was analyzed independently (i.e. 2 to 4 experiments depending on the response variable). Bonferroni correction was used to adjust the probability of a type I error occurring (i.e. probability was considered significant when *beta* < alpha/n where beta equals the Bonferoni corrected probability, alpha = 0.05 and n = the number of experiment run for the specific response variable). Any bias in these data was explored by residual analysis and if detected the data were transformed as noted in the ANOVA tables. Differences in the median survival time among treatments for each experiment were tested using Kaplan-Meier survival analysis. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 16.

### **Results:**

The mean proportion of eggs completing fertilization was not affected by either temperature or  $pCO_2$  in three of the four experiments (Fig 3.1 A, B & C; Table 3.2). In all of these, experiment fertilization success was uniformly high (Fig 3.1 A, B & C). In one experiment, *A. millepora* Nov22, the mean proportion of eggs fertilized was lower at high temperatures: 100% of eggs were fertilized at 27°C vs. 89.5 ± 3.8 eggs (mean ± SE) fertilized at 29°C (Fig. 3.1D; Table 3.2).

The effect of temperature and  $pCO_2$  on time to complete gastrulation was variable. In all but one experiment, *A. millepora* Nov22, embryos completed gastrulation more quickly at high temperatures (Fig. 3.2; Table 2.3). For example, the average time to complete gastrulation in *A. millepora* Nov01 was 22.0  $\pm$  0.49 h at 27°C vs. 18.6  $\pm$  0.16 h at 29°C. In one experiment, *A. tenuis*,  $pCO_2$  also had an effect, with embryos in high  $pCO_2$  completing gastrulation more quickly (17.8  $\pm$  0.18 h) than those at ambient  $pCO_2$  (18.7  $\pm$  0.28 h) (Fig. 3.2A; Table 3.3). In no experiment was there any interaction between temperature and  $pCO_2$  (Table 3. 3). Further, the effects of temperature and  $pCO_2$  on time to motility were highly variable. In all but one experiment, *A. millepora* Nov22, motility was achieved more quickly at higher temperatures (Fig.3.3; Table 3.4); however, in two experiments, temperature interacted with  $pCO_2$ . In *A. tenuis*, there was no difference between the  $pCO_2$  treatments at 27°C; however, at 29°C motility was reached more rapidly in the high  $pCO_2$  treatment (Fig.3.3a). In *A. millepora\_Nov01*, there was no difference between the  $pCO_2$  treatments at 29°C, however, at 27°C, embryos in the high  $pCO_2$ treatment became motile more quickly (Fig. 3.3B). In *A. millepora Nov22* motility was reached more rapidly in high  $pCO_2$  (Fig.3.3C; Table 3.4) than at ambient  $pCO_2$  (59.2 ± 1.7 h vs. 66.8 ± 2.84 h) (Fig. 3.3C; Table 3.4).

The effects of temperature and  $pCO_2$  on larval survivorship were also variable. In *A. tenuis*, median survivorship was significantly lower in the high temperature treatment, but did not vary among the other three treatments (Fig. 3.4; Table 3.5). In *A. millepora\_Nov22*, median survivorship was lower in the high temp and high temp & elevated  $pCO_2$  treatments when compared to the ambient temperature treatments (ambient and high  $pCO_2$ ), however, there was no significant difference in median survivorship between the elevated  $pCO_2$  treatment and any other treatment (Table 3.6).

The effects of temperature on larval metamorphosis were also variable. In *A. tenuis*, metamorphosis was higher at 29°C (55.1%  $\pm$  0.45 vs. 70.3%  $\pm$  0.25) (Fig. 3.5; Table 3.7). In contrast, metamorphosis was lower at 29°C in *A. millepora\_*Nov22 (54.9%  $\pm$ 0.30 vs. 40.2%  $\pm$  0.45) (Fig. 3.5; Table 3.7). *p*CO<sub>2</sub> did not have any effect on metamorphosis, either on its own, or in synergy with high temperature (Fig. 3.5; Table 3.7).

#### Discussion:

The effects of temperature on the early life history stages of corals were more prevalent than those of OA. In general, rates of development were faster at high temperatures, as predicted by metabolic theory (Gillooly et al. 2001). In contrast, OA rarely affected development and, with one exception, did so only in combination with temperature. However, the effect was contrary to predictions. In both experiments where an interaction was detected (Fig. 3A & B; Table 4) elevated  $pCO_2$  decreased the time to motility whereas hypercapnia or CO<sub>2</sub> narcosis would be expected to slow rates of development (Pörtner et al. 2004). Similarly, in the only experiment where OA had a significant effect on development, time to motility was faster in high  $pCO_2$  treatments. Neither temperature, OA nor the combination of these variables affected fertilization, larval survivorship or metamorphosis in any consistent or predictable direction. We conclude that projected changes in temperature and OA this century are unlikely to have major ecological effects on the early life history of corals, either alone, or in synergy, with the possible exception of temperature speeding up rates of larval development.

Fertilization was robust to both elevated OA and temperature within the range of the variables used in the experiments. This is a result that is in good agreement with all work done previously with corals (see Table 1.2 and 1.3). Albright et al. (2010) reported a 64% decrease in fertilization rates at similar levels of OA when sperm concentrations were low, however, the age of the gametes used in this experiment (gametes were mixed after 3 h) suggests they were past their prime (Oliver and Babcock 1992). In general, fertilization rates are only reduced at + 4 °C (e.g. Negri et al. 2007 and see Table 1.3). Similarly, sea urchin fertilization is robust to these levels of OA and temperature (Byrne 2011, Sheppard Brennand et al. 2010). Marine invertebrate fertilization is generally robust to acidity and minor increases in temperature because the propagules are often equipped with cellular defences, present in the egg before fertilization (Hamduon and Epel 2007; Portune 2010), probably because the gametes are regularly exposed to fluctuating temperature and OA in the plankton (Gagliano et al. 2010).

Rates of development were predictably increased by temperature, a result consistent with most of the literature (see Table 1.2 & 1.3), and one to be expected on the basis of

metabolic theory. However, it was surprising that OA also on occasion increased rates of development, both on its own, and in synergy with high temperature, in contrast to a prediction of reduced metabolism from hypercapnia.

Metamorphosis was affected by temperature but not OA, however, the temperature effect was inconsistent. Again, these results are consistent with the literature (see Table 1.2 & 1.3). Temperature of + 2 °C above ambient average sea temperature have little effect on metamorphosis, and both positive (Coles 1985) and negative effects (Randall and Szmant 2009) have been reported. Metamorphosis is rarely directly affected by OA (Nakamura et al 2011, Albright et al 2010; 2011), indeed, only in larva that have passed peak metamorphosis (Nakamura et al. 2011) has a direct effect been reported. The effect of OA on metamorphosis, if any, is indirect, and mediated through OA-induced changes in the composition of the substratum, in particular, the health of crustose coralline algae that is often required to induce metamorphosis in coral (Albright et al 2010; Doropoulos et al. 2012). In the only other test of a synergistic effect between these stressors, metamorphosis was not affected (Anlauf et al. 2011).

Survivorship was not consistently affected by OA or temperature. The temperature results is perhaps surprising because most previous experiments report an effect at temperature levels above ambient (e.g. Coles 1985; Bassim and Sammarco 2003 but see Yakovleva et al. 2009). In contrast, larval survivorship is rarely affected by OA (Chapter 2; Table 2.2). This suggests that some species of corals are more susceptible to temperature and acidity stress than others (Fabricius et al. 2011).

In conclusion, the effects of a +2 °C increase in temperature were relatively minor and had no effect on fertilization, and mixed effects on larval survivorship and metamorphosis. The only consistent effect was on rates of development which were typically more rapid at high temperatures. The effects of increased rates of development on coral demography are difficult to predict. If larvae develop competence more quickly, average dispersal distance should decrease which is therefore likely to reduce levels of reef connectivity. However, greater levels of retention are also likely to increase the rates of recruitment. Consequently, the effect of more rapid rates of development in response to increasing temperatures is likely to be highly dependent on local conditions such as reef density and hydrodynamics. In contrast to temperature, OA had no predictable or consistent effect, either alone, or in synergy with temperature. It is concluded that temperature increases associated with global warming are more likely to have ecological consequences than OA (see also Cooper et al. 2012).

**Table 3.1**: Water chemistry parameters ( $\pm$ SE) value throughout the experiment with saturation values of Aragonite and Calcite and actual saturated values of *p*CO<sub>2</sub> in treatments tanks calculated using CO2SYS. (Parameters: K1, K2 from Mehrbach et al. 1973 refit by Dickson and Millero 1987; KHSO<sub>4</sub> from Dickson 1990; pH: NBS scale/kg-H<sub>2</sub>O (Pierrot et al. 2006)

Treatment	рН	TA (μmol/kg as CaCO3)	Temperature (°C)	$\Omega$ calc	$\Omega$ arag	<i>p</i> CO <sub>2</sub> calculated
Ambient	$8.12\pm0.02$	$2076\pm40$	$26.5\pm0.08$	$4.2 \pm 0.2$	$2.8 \pm 0.1$	$446 \ \pm 18$
High Temp	$8.11 \pm 0.02$	$2094\pm43$	$28.9\pm0.04$	$4.2\pm0.2$	$2.8\pm0.1$	$509 \pm 21$
High CO <sub>2</sub>	$7.96\pm0~.02$	$2015\pm37$	$26.5\pm0.05$	$3.0\pm0.1$	$2.0\pm0.1$	$675\pm26$
T x CO <sub>2</sub>	$7.98 \pm 0.01$	$2036\pm47$	$29.3\pm0.11$	$3.3\pm0.2$	$2.2\pm0.1$	$710\ \pm 37$

**Table 3.2**: Two-way ANOVA results for every fertilization experiment (single species tested against elevated  $pCO_2$  (abbreviated  $pCO_2$ ) and temperature treatment) with Bonferroni correction (probability was considered significant when p < 0.013)

Cohorts	n	df	F value	<i>p</i> value
A. tenuis	20			
Temperature		1	0.078	0.783
$pCO_2$		1	0.000	1.000
Temp vs. $pCO_2$		1	1.255	0.279
A. millepora Nov 01	20			
Temperature		1	3.189	0.093
$pCO_2$		1	0.925	0.351
Temp vs. $pCO_2$		1	5.453	0.033
A. millepora Nov 02	20			
Temperature		1	3.723	0.072
$pCO_2$		1	2.492	0.134
Temp vs. $pCO_2$		1	5.200	0.037
A. millepora Nov 22	20			
Temperature		1	10.376	0.005
$pCO_2$		1	3.976	0.063
Temp vs. $pCO_2$		1	3.976	0.063

**Table 3.3**: Two-way ANOVA results for every 'average time to gastrula stage' experiment (single species tested against elevated  $pCO_2$  (abbreviated  $pCO_2$ ) and temperature treatment) with Bonferroni correction (probability was considered significant when p < 0.013).

		10		1
Conorts	n	đf	F value	<i>p</i> value
A. tenuis	238			
Temperature		1	14.475	0.000
$pCO_2$		1	10.067	0.002
Temp vs. $pCO_2$		1	0.696	0.405
A. millepora Nov 01	232			
Temperature		1	50.353	0.000
$pCO_2$		1	2.525	0.113
Temp vs. $pCO_2$		1	0.157	0.692
A. millepora Nov 22	240			
Temperature		1	0.090	0.765
$pCO_2$		1	0.050	0.823
Temp vs. $pCO_2$		1	0.090	0.765
A. millepora Nov 30	237			
Temperature		1	18.846	0.000
$pCO_2$		1	2.143	0.145
Temp vs. $pCO_2$		1	3.993	0.047

**Table 3.4**: Two-way ANOVA results for every 'average time to motile stage' experiment (single species tested against elevated  $pCO_2$  (abbreviated  $pCO_2$ ) and temperature treatment) with Bonferroni correction (probability was considered significant when p < 0.013).

Cohorts	n	df	F value	<i>p</i> value
A. tenuis	142			
Temperature		1	323.125	0.000
$pCO_2$		1	4.935	0.028
Temp vs. $pCO_2$		1	44.796	0.000
A. millepora Nov 01	218			
Temperature		1	53.519	0.000
$pCO_2$		1	10.597	0.001
Temp vs. $pCO_2$		1	17.654	0.000
A. millepora Nov 22	142			
Temperature		1	3.015	0.085
$pCO_2$		1	10.101	0.002
Temp vs. $pCO_2$		1	3.622	0.059
A. millepora Nov 30	210			
Temperature		1	13.202	0.000
$pCO_2$		1	0.070	0.792
Temp vs. $pCO_2$		1	0.587	0.444

**Table 3.5**: Median survivorship results for *A. tenuis*, Kaplan-meier analysis. df = 3,  $\chi^2$ = 16.4, p< 0.001. Abbreviation: LCL = Lower confidence level, UCL = upper confidence level.

n	Median	0.95 LCL	0.95 UCL
150	168	158.33	177.68
150	72	45.90	98.10
150	168	125.70	210.30
150	168	115.74	220.26
	n 150 150 150 150	nMedian15016815072150168150168	nMedian0.95 LCL150168158.331507245.90150168125.70150168115.74

**Table 3.6**: Survivorship results for *A. millepora*, Kaplan-Meier analysis. df = 3,  $\chi^2$  = 4.814, p = 0.028. Abbreviation: LCL = Lower confidence level, UCL = upper confidence level

Treatments	n	Median	0.95 LCL	0.95 UCL
Ambient	150	168	104.13	231.87
High Temp	150	72	47.18	96.83
High CO <sub>2</sub>	150	96	0.12	191.88
T x CO <sub>2</sub>	150	72	57.70	86.30

**Table 3.7**: Two-way ANOVA results for every 'metamorphosis' experiment (single species tested against elevated  $pCO_2$  (abbreviated  $pCO_2$ ) and temperature treatment) with Bonferroni correction (probability was considered significant when p< 0.025)

Cohorts	n	df	F value	<i>p</i> value	
A. tenuis	72				
Temperature		1	7.30	0.009	
$pCO_2$		1	0.04	0.845	
Temp vs. $pCO_2$		1	0.04	0.850	
A. millepora	72				
Temperature		1	7.24	0.009	
$pCO_2$		1	1.47	0.229	
Temp vs. $pCO_2$		1	1.82	0.182	
**Figure 3.1**: Average percentile of fertilization under both elevated temperature and acidity exposure ( $\pm$ SE) for 4 experiments across 2 acroporid species (n = 20 for both species). Key: white bars = Ambient temperature 27°C and ambient *p*CO<sub>2</sub> (446ppm and 509ppm) and black bars = High CO<sub>2</sub> (675 ppm and 710 ppm)

A= A. tenuis, B= A. millepora Nov 01, C = A. millepora Nov 02, D= A. millepora Nov 22.



**Figure 3.2**: Average time to gastrula under both elevated temperature and acidity exposure ( $\pm$ SE) for 4 experiments across 2 acroporid species (*A. tenuis* n= 238; *A millepora* n= 232 – 240).

Key: white bars = Ambient temperature 27°C and ambient  $pCO_2$  and black bars = High CO<sub>2</sub>; A= A. *tenuis*, B= A. *millepora* Nov 01, C = A. *millepora* Nov 22, D= A. *millepora* Nov 30.



**Figure 3.3**: Average time to motile under both elevated temperature and acidity exposure ( $\pm$ SE) for 4 experiments across 2 acroporid species (*A. tenuis* n= 142; *A millepora* n= 142–218).

Key: white bars = Ambient temperature 27°C and ambient  $pCO_2$  and black bars = High  $CO_2$ 





**Figure 3.4**: Number of surviving propagules under both elevated temperature and acidity exposure ( $\pm$ SE) for 2 experiments across 2 acroporid species (n= 150 for borth species). Key: closed squares = Ambient temperature 27°C and ambient pCO2 (446ppm), open squares = high temp (29°C, 446ppm), closed circle = high acid (27°C and 675 ppm) and open circles = acid x temp (29°C and 710 ppm). A= *A. tenuis*, B= *A. millepora*.



Exposure time (hours)

Figure 3.5: Average percentile of metamorphosis under both elevated temperature and acidity exposure ( $\pm$ SE) for 2 experiments across 2 acroporid species (n= 72 for both species).

Key: white bars = Ambient temperature 27°C and ambient  $pCO_2$  and black bars = High CO<sub>2</sub>; A=A. *tenuis*, B=A. *millepora* 



# Chapter 4: Effects of ocean acidification on metamorphosis of larvae of a brooding and spawning coral

Proceeding submitted for the 12<sup>th</sup> ICRS, Cairns, 9-13 July 2012. 8D- Effects of ocean

acidification.

Chia-Miin Chua<sup>1</sup>, Peter Schupp<sup>2</sup>, William Leggat<sup>1, 3</sup>, Andrew H. Baird<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>ARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook University, Townsville, Queensland, 4811, Australia

<sup>2</sup>University of Guam Station, University of Guam, Mangilao, Guam

<sup>3</sup>School of Pharmacy and Molecular Sciences, James Cook University, Townsville, Queensland, 4811, Australia

#### Introduction

Climate change has the potential to detrimentally affect coral reefs. In particular, increasing ocean acidity as a result of increased atmospheric concentrations of  $CO_2$  is expected to present a severe threat to marine ecosystems before the end of this century (Kleypas et al. 1999; Orr et al. 2005). Ocean acidification is caused by alteration of sea water chemistry through  $CO_2$  absorption from the atmosphere leading to a decrease in seawater pH and carbonate ion concentrations ( $CO_3^{2-}$ ). Recent changes in ocean chemistry, including a decrease in pH of 0.1 units since the 1950s, have reduced the rates of calcification in many marine organisms (Langdon 2000; Cooper et al. 2008; Pörtner 2009). By 2050, ocean pH is expected to be lower than at any point in the last 20 million years (Caldeira and Wickett 2003; Guinotte et al. 2006; Turley et al. 2007).

To date, much of the research on the effects of ocean acidification on corals has focused on adults, in particular the process of calcification. However, the early life history stages of marine organisms are also likely to be sensitive to changes in ocean chemistry (Pörtner et al. 2004; Byrne 2010). Hypercapnia, defined as an increase in the partial pressure of  $CO_2$  in the respiratory fluids, affects acid-base regulation, oxygen transport and metabolic function (see review by Pörtner et al. 2004) and reduced sperm motility in seawater artificially enriched with  $CO_2$  (Havenhand et al. 2008, Morita et al. 2010).

Many ecological processes are affected by differences in the life history traits of organisms. For example, the mode of larval development in marine invertebrates (often called the reproductive mode) affects patterns of dispersal (Baird et al. 2009b), rates of recruitment (Hughes et al 2002) and post-settlement mortality (Marshall et al. 2010). Corals have two contrasting modes of reproduction: brooding and broadcast spawning. These modes of reproduction are distinctive in many ways (Baird et al 2009b), however, potentially the most important difference in terms of the larva's response to stress, such as increased acidity, is whether or not they contain photosynthetic symbionts, Symbiodinium. Interestingly, all brooded larvae (except those of the *Isopora sp.*) contain *Symbiodinium* on release from the mother, whereas only four of 85 genera of broadcast spawning species have Symbiodinium in the eggs (Baird et al. 2009b). Symbiotic organisms are generally more susceptible to stress: for example, few other organisms respond to the relatively small changes in sea surface temperature associated with mass coral bleaching events (Baird et al. 2009a; McClanahan et al 2009). Similarly, Acropora larva experimental infected with Symbiodinium have higher rates of mortality when exposed to temperatures 2°C higher than ambient (Yakovleva et al 2009), and naturally occurring levels of ultra-violet radiation (Baird et al unpublished data) when compared to larvae of the same species that lack *Symbiodinium*.

Here, we test whether ocean acidification affects metamorphosis in the larval of a brooding coral that contains *Symbiodinium*, *Leptastrea cf transversa* and a spawning coral that does not, *Goniastrea retiformis*. Hypothesis: elevated CO<sub>2</sub> will decrease the success of settlement of *L. transversa* and *G. retiformis* propagules.

#### Materials and method

Goniastrea retiformis is a hermaphroditic broadcast spawner. The eggs of G. retiformis lack Symbiodinium which are typically not take up by larvae until settlement (Fig. 1a; Babcock and Heyward 1986). Leptastrea cf transversa is a gonochoric brooder. Larvae are released containing Symbiodinium that have been transmitted from the mother to the developing oocytes (Fig. 4b).

Eight mature colonies of *G. retiformis* were collected from the fringing reef in Pago Bay, Guam (13° 25'N, 144° 48'E) and maintained in outdoor aquaria until they spawned on the night of 15<sup>th</sup> June 2009. Following spawning, larvae were cultured as outlined in Babcock et al. (2003) and maintained in 0.2µm filtered sea water (FSW) until competent to settle (Connolly and Baird 2010). Approximately 20 colonies of *L. cf transversa* were collected from the lagoon behind the fringing reef fronting the Guam Port Authority (13°27'54.98"N, 144°40'16.10"E) on the 15<sup>th</sup> June and maintained in flow through aquaria at the University of Guam Marine Laboratory. At night, the water flow was stopped, and in the morning larvae were collected from the aquaria with pipettes. A total of 75 larvae were collected on the  $17^{\text{th}}$  June 2009 and the larvae were maintained in 0.2µm filtered sea water for three days prior to the settlement experiment that commenced on  $20^{\text{th}}$  June 2009.

## Experimental manipulation of ocean acidification.

The CO<sub>2</sub> tanks were prepared in a temperature control room (25°C-26°C). A CO<sub>2</sub> mixing system developed by Munday et al. (2009) was used to manipulate pCO<sub>2</sub> in seawater. Four levels of pCO<sub>2</sub> (ambient 380 ppm, 550 ppm, 750 ppm and 1000 ppm) were used, as recommended by Barry et al. (2010). CO<sub>2</sub> concentration was measured in ppm units using a CO<sub>2</sub> gas probe (Vaisala ®). The mixed gases were bubbled through 70 l sump tanks to enrich the water. The enriched water was flowed through replicates via a one-way flow-through system. pH conditions and corresponding total alkalinity (TA) were measured for each treatment by using auto Gran titration (APHA 2320). Experimental calcite ( $\Omega_{calc}$ ) and aragonite saturation ( $\Omega_{arag}$ ), carbonate (CO<sub>3</sub><sup>2</sup>) and bicarbonate ion concentration (HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) were calculated from TA, pH, salinity and CO<sub>2</sub> concentration (*p*CO<sub>2</sub>) using CO2SYS (Pierrot et al. 2006; Table 4.1).

## The effect of pCO<sub>2</sub>on metamorphosis

Ten *G. retiformis* larvae from each of the 3.5 l jars were placed into each well of a 6-well Iwaki cell culture plate with a modified meshed lid. Similarly, one *L. cf transversa* larva was placed in each well with a total of 18 larvae per  $pCO_2$ treatment. A 5 mm x 5 mm crustose coralline algae (CCA), *Hydrolithion sp.* was placed in each well to induce metamorphosis. Three plates (with 18 wells as replicates) were then immersed in the four  $pCO_2$  treatments and the number of larvae completing metamorphosis was assessed after 24

h. Larvae were defined as metamorphosed if a basal disc had been deposited (Baird and Babcock 2000).

#### Data analysis

Differences in the mean number of *G. retiformis* larvae completing metamorphosis among the four  $pCO_2$  treatments were tested with 1-way ANOVA. Tukey's HSD multiple comparison test was used to determine which  $pCO_2$  levels differed. Any bias in these data was explored by residual analysis and if detected the data were transformed as noted in the ANOVA tables. A contingency table was used to test whether the number of *L. cf transversa* larvae settling was independent of the level of  $pCO_2$ .

## Results

Ocean acidification did not affect metamorphosis as predicted in either species. The mean number of *G. retiformis* larvae completing metamorphosis did not differ among the different  $pCO_2$  levels (F<sub>1,46</sub> = 2.386, p = 0.1292; Fig. 4.2). While the number of larvae completing metamorphosis in *L. cf transversa* was dependent on the level of  $pCO_2$  ( $\chi^2_{1,3}$  = 9.0625, p = 0.02847), the pattern was not that expected if the response was does dependent. The highest number of *L. cf transversa* larvae metamorphosed in the 1000 ppm the lowest number in the 750 ppm treatment and there was no difference between ambient and 500 ppm (Table 4.2).

## Discussion

Metamorphosis was not consistently affected by  $pCO_2$  in either species. These results suggest that the mode of reproduction does not affect the larval response to  $pCO_2$  and

furthermore, there will be no direct effects of ocean acidification on settlement rates of reef corals, at least in the near future.

Our results are consistent with other recent research on the effect of OA on coral larval metamorphosis. A reduction in metamorphosis is typically only apparent at very high levels of pCO2 or when mediated by OA induced changes in the quality of the substratum (see review by Albright 2012; Chua 2012). There are a number of reasons why corals may be robust to OA. Adult corals thrive in an environment with high natural fluctuations in pH (Gagliano et al. 2010) which may pre-adapt the offspring to withstand high level of OA. For example, sea urchins that live in tidal pools with high natural fluctuations in pH produce offspring that are robust to OA (Byrne 2010). Similarly, larvae of the Sydney Rock Oyster (Saccostrea glomerata) produced by adults subjected to elevated  $pCO_2$  during gametogenesis had faster development, greater shell length and metabolic activity in elevated CO<sub>2</sub> conditions, compared to juveniles from wild caught adults (Parker et al 2012). Similarly, brooded larvae produced by adult byrozoans (Bugula neritina) grown in elevated copper concentration were larger, dispersed farther and were tolerant of copper toxicity (Marshall 2008). Such maternal effects are likely to be greater in species with larvae that rarely leave the maternal habitat, such as those species that brood larvae. However, we found no difference between these two coral species with different modes of larval development. Alternatively, the process of calcification may pre-adapt corals to fluctuation in pH. During calcification, corals elevate the extracellular pH under the calicoblastic epithelium by 0.2-0.5 units (Venn et a. 2011) and therefore, corals may have evolved mechanism for the tissue to adjust to high pH.

In conclusion, projected ocean acidification levels in the near future appear unlikely to have major ecological effects on coral settlement. The lack of major affects on larval ecology does not mean that ocean acidification is not a threat to other stages in a coral's life history. There are strong theoretic and empirical reasons for expecting an effect on physiology (Pörtner et al. 2004) and patterns of gene expression vary dramatically in coral larvae as levels of  $pCO_2$  increase (Moya et al. 2012). The consequences of energy expenditure on cellular acid-base regulation and lowered metabolism are perhaps unlikely to be apparent in short term ecological experiments. In particular, growth, reproduction and competitive ability are all likely to be affected by increases in ocean acidity over a longer time frame (Anthony et al. 2008; Fabricius et al. 2011). In addition, increased concentrations of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> are also resulting in the warming of the ocean via the green house effect (Hendriks et al. 2010). Consequently, marine organisms must deal with both high  $pCO_2$  and high temperatures and future work should explore the possible synergistic effects of these stressors on coral larval ecology.

#### Acknowledgement

We thank P. Munday for the design of the  $CO_2$  mixing system and A. Kerr for constructive advice on the design and analysis earlier in this experiment. We also thank the Marine Lab of University of Guam for providing facilities. This study was supported by funding from the ARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies **Table 4.1**: Water chemistry parameters ( $\pm$ SE) value throughout the experiment with saturation values of Aragonite and Calcite and actual saturated values of *p*CO<sub>2</sub> in treatments tanks calculated using CO2SYS using parameters: K1, K2 from Mehrbach et al 1973 refit by Dickson & Millero 1987; KHSO4 from Dickson 1990; pH: NBS scale/kg-H<sub>2</sub>O (Pierrot et al 2006)

Treatment	pН	TA (µmol/kg	Temperature	$\Omega$ calc	$\Omega$ arag	pCO <sub>2</sub>
		as CaCO <sub>3</sub> )	(°C)			calculated
Ambient	$8.12\pm0.02$	$2076\pm40$	$26.5\pm0.08$	$4.2\pm0.2$	$2.8\pm0.1$	446 ± 18
600	$8.11 \pm 0.02$	$2094 \pm 43$	$28.9\pm0.04$	$4.2\pm0.2$	$2.8\pm0.1$	$509\pm21$
750	$7.96 \pm 0$	$2015\pm37$	$26.5\pm0.05$	$3.0 \pm 0.1$	$2.0\pm0.1$	$675\pm26$
1000	0.02 $7.98 \pm 0.01$	$2036\pm47$	$29.3\pm0.11$	$3.3 \pm 0.2$	$2.2 \pm 0.1$	$710\ \pm 37$

**Table 4.2:** The number of *Leptastrea cf transversa* larvae completing metamorphosis under four level of  $pCO_2$ .

pCO2	Metamorphosed	Not metamorphosed
Control	9	9
500	9	9
750	4	14
1000	13	5

**Figure 4.1:** (a) A broadcast spawned larva (*Leptasrea cf. transversa*) with no symbionts (b) a brooded larvae (*Stylophora pistillata*) with symbionts evident as brown splotches in the gastroderm



**Figure 4.2:** The proportion of *Goniastrea retiformis* larval complete metamorphosis under four acidification regimes (mean + SE). Letters denote groups that are not significantly different as indicated by Tukey's HSD test.



## Chapter 5: Effects of ocean acidification and ocean warming on the growth and patterns of skeletogenesis in juvenile corals.

#### Introduction

Up to 70% of the world's corals may be lost within the next 40 years if climate related stressors and human influences continue to intensify (Wilkinson 1993). Recovery of damaged coral populations generally depends on successful sexual recruitment to reseed the damaged reefs (Fan et al. 2002; Arthur et al. 2005; Hughes & Tanner 2000). Therefore, it is essential to study how the recruitment of stony corals will be affected by climate change, especially the combination of ocean acidification and warming at levels projected to occur in the near future.

Coral recruitment plays a primary role in: maintaining genetic diversity; populating denuded areas; determining the community structure of coral reefs; and replenishing reefs post-disturbance (Morgan 2001). Environmental factors, such as temperature, can reduce recruitment with profound effects for marine population dynamics (Gaines and Roughgarden 1985; Harrison and Wallace 1990; Doherty and Fowler 1994; Riegl and Purkis 2009; Hughes et al 2000). Following settlement, coral recruits secrete a calcium carbonate skeleton (Vandermeulen and Watabe, 1973; Le Tissier, 1988) without which growth and further development cannot proceed (Chambelain 1978; Vandemulen and Watabe 1973).

Ocean acidification decreases the availability of carbonate ions for calcification and is therefore likely reduce growth rates (Kleypas et al. 1999; Kleypas and Langdon 2000) making juveniles more vulnerable to predation which is an important source of mortality

79

early in life (Penin et al. 2011). In addition to ocean acidification, ocean warming is also likely to affect coral growth. Small temperature rises are likely to increase growth rates (Coles 1985; Jokiel and Coles 1990), however, once temperature exceeds critical thresholds growth rates are likely to decline (De'ath et al. 2009). The effects of these stressors in synergy are, however, largely unexplored. Calcification of *Stylophora pistillata* colonies maintained at an elevated temperature declined by 50% in response to increased acidity (Reynaud et al. 2003), suggesting temperature has an additive effect on decalcification. Similarly, Anlauf et al. (2011) found temperature exacerbated the effects of ocean acidity on the early calcification of a brooding coral species *Porites panamensis*. However, the effects of these stressors both independently and in synergy have been largely unexplored in coral juveniles.

The objective of this study was to test whether growth and the patterns of skeletogenesis were affected by near future levels of ocean warming and acidification. Hypothesis: elevated temperature and  $CO_2$  will decrease the skeletal growth and morphology development of *A. tenuis* and *A. millepora* propagules.

#### Materials and method

#### Larval culture and settlement

Adult colonies of *Acropora tenuis*, and *A. millepora* were collected a few days before they were expected to spawn from Magnetic Island (19° 9'S, 146° 50'E) and Orpheus Island (18° 35'S, 146° 29'E) in 2009 and 2010. Adult colonies were maintained in JCU outdoor aquaria until spawning. In 2009, colonies from Orpheus Island spawned on the 11<sup>th</sup> of December. In 2010, *A. tenuis* from Magnetic Island spawned on the night of 28<sup>th</sup> October,

and *A. millepora* colonies from Orpheus Island spawned on  $30^{\text{th}}$  November. In each experiment sperm and eggs from 4-6 colonies were cross-fertilized and cultured in the treatments (Oliver and Babcock 1992), with three replicate 3.5L jars in each treatment, modified to allow 0.2 µm filtered treated seawater to flow through at the rate of 1.5 - 2L per hour. Once the larvae were motile (6-7 days after fertilization) they were infected by zooxanthellae according to Baird et al. (2006). Ten larvae were removed haphazardly, mounted on a slide and viewed under blue-violet light using fluorescent microscope (Leica MZ FLIII). The average number of symbiont cells per larva was  $8.7\pm5$ .

Larvae were settled onto sterile petri dishes when 6 days old. Two to three larvae were contained in a water droplet (4ml) together with a CCA chip (*Titanoderma* sp.) on the surface of the Petri-dishes. Planulae were allowed 24 hours to metamorphose after which remaining swimming planulae were removed. Planulae settled individually and in aggregations of numerous fused primary polyps. Individual settled and aggregations of spats were used for different analyses in this experiment. One to two Petri-dishes were collected every sampling period to ensure that 5- 10 juveniles were sampled on each collection.

## *Experimental manipulation of pCO2 and temperature.*

Refer to methods section in Chapter 2 (for 2009 acidification experiments) and 3 (for 2010 acidification and warming experiments) for full description of methods

#### *Effects of acidification on juvenile growth*

The  $CO_2$  tanks were prepared in a temperature control room (26°C-27°C). In 2009, four levels of ocean acidity treatments were used: ambient, near future, mid range and high range pCO<sub>2</sub>, refer to Chapter 2 for actual estimated values of pH. In 2009, the experiment was conducted for 28 days. Five to ten samples were collected on day 1, 2, 3 and 7, and subsequent weekly collection was conducted up to day 28.

Tissue was removed by submerging samples in 10% NaCl solution for 24 hours after which spats were washed with tap water (a gentle stream for 5 seconds), distilled water (a gentle stream for 5 seconds), and then soaked in distilled water for 1 hour. The skeletons were then air-dried before microscopy. The maximum diameter of each spat was measured to the nearest unit with a graticule eyepiece. Representative specimens were photographed under a Nikon SMZ800 stereo-dissecting microscope with a Nikon Coolpix 4500 camera.

#### Effects of acidification and warming on juvenile growth

In 2010, two levels of CO<sub>2</sub> concentration (ambient 380 ppm and 750 ppm) and two levels of temperature exposure (ambient 27°C and +2°C) were selected as recommended by the EPOCA protocol (Barry 2010). The treatments were ambient (27° plus 380 ppm CO<sub>2</sub>); high temp (29°C plus 380 ppm); high CO<sub>2</sub> (27°plus 750 ppm CO<sub>2</sub>) and combination of high temperature and acidity (29°C plus 750ppm CO<sub>2</sub>). The actual pCO<sub>2</sub> was recalculated using CO2SYS (Chapter 3, Table 3.1). Larvae were settled onto Petri dishes as described above. Five to ten samples were collected daily for 7 days. Spats were bleached, measured and photographed as described above.

#### Data analysis

A one-way analysis of covariance was used to test for mean differences in the growth (maximum diameter) of juveniles among the four levels of acidity with age in days used as the covariate. A two-way analysis of covariance was used to test for mean differences in the growth (maximum diameter) of juveniles among the four treatment combinations of heat and acidity with age in days used as the covariate. Each species was tested independently. Statistical analysis of variance was conducted using SPSS.

## Results

## Growth of recruits

Growth rates did not differ among juveniles exposed to the four levels of  $pCO_2$  (F<sub>3,243</sub> = 1.792, p = 0.162, Fig. 5.1). Similarly, neither elevated CO<sub>2</sub> nor temperature affected the growth rate of either species, nor was there any interaction between these factors (Fig. 5.2A & B).

#### Patterns of skeletogenesis

Levels of  $pCO_2$  equivalent to those projected to occur by the end of this century had no obvious effect on the patterns of skeletogenesis. Skeletogenesis began with the deposition of a basal plate with 12 basal ridges in a single cycle. On day 2-3, lateral processes were evident on the inner end of basal ridges in a single cycle. These processes developed into rods (or synapticulae) that grew perpendicular to the basal ridges and fused with adjacent synapticulae to form the corallite wall. The first fused rings of the corallite wall were evident after 3-4 days (Fig 5.3). After 7 days, the samples exhibited prominent laminar septa, and a porous coenosteum. In contrast, there were some minor malformations of the first fused ring of corallite wall in both *A. millepora* and *A. tenuis* after 7 days in the high  $pCO_2$  treatment, compared to the ambient, high temp and high T x CO<sub>2</sub> treatments (Fig 5.4; Fig. 5.5); however, these are unlikely to be ecologically important.

#### Discussion

Neither juvenile growth nor the patterns of skeletogenesis of two common species of coral were affected by a range of  $pCO_2$  levels corresponding to the A2 scenario up to the end of the century (IPCC 2007). Similarly, neither growth nor patterns of skeletogenesis were affected by 2°C above ambient or  $pCO_2$  levels of 650-750 ppm nor where these variables affected by these stressors in combination. We conclude that the juvenile growth and patterns of skeletogenesis are likely to be affected by near future levels of climate change.

The results are in contrast to many other studies (Table 1.1 and Table 1.2). This is perhaps because I used near future levels of  $pCO_2$  and temperature (IPCC 2007). Most effects were found in experiments using the more extreme values (reviewed in Chapter 1).

Another possible reason is that we used juveniles with low densities of zooxanthellae. Anlauf et al. (2011) and Albright and Langdon (2011) both used species that have high densities of zooxanthellae at settlement (e.g. *P. cylindrical* with 3000 zooxanthellae Hirose and Hidaka 2006). Symbiotic organisms appear particularly vulnerable to stress (Baird et al. 2009; Yakovleva et al. 2009) and the low densities of zooxanthellae in the larvae may have lessened the chance of oxidative stress, particularly under increased temperature. Photosynthetic electron transport occurring within the zooxanthellae produces reactive oxygen species (ROS) when exposed to high temperature,

causing the photosystem II to overload even under normal light (Takahashi et al. 2004). Possible tissue damage beyond the zooxanthellae can occur as ROS were permeable though cell walls (Nakamura and van Woesik 2001), which may have explained the drastic responses from zooxanthellae larvae species (Chapter 1, Table 1.1).

In general, newly settled juveniles developing skeletons are particularly vulnerable to physical disturbance and acidosis, as seen in bivalves and crustacean juveniles with external skeleton structure (Arnold et al. 2009; Cigliano et al. 2010; Byrne et al.2011). Unlike bivalves or crustaceans, corals are protected by a tissue layer, which serves as a buffer. Rodolfo-Metalpa et al. (2010) demonstrated that exposed skeleton in *Cladocora cespitosa* and *Balanophyllia europaea* dissolved more than tissue covered areas on the same coral colony. Therefore, the anatomy of corals may pre-adapt them to cope with OA more effectively than some other organism.

In conclusion, these results suggest that growth rates and patterns of skeletogensis in juvenile corals are unlikely to be affected by near future levels of elevated  $pCO_2$  or temperature, at least in species which do not possess symbionts in high densities at settlement.

**Figure 5.1**: Mean maximum diameter of *A. millepora* juvenile in four  $pCO_2$  treatments (±SE) with n = 248. (Closed squares = ambient CO<sub>2</sub> concentration, open squares = near-future, closed circle = mid-range and open circles = high-range CO<sub>2</sub>). See Table 2.1 for actual values of pH.



**Figure 5.2**: Average maximum diameter of *A. tenuis* (A; n= 153) and *A. millepora* (B; n= 184) juveniles in four combinations of  $pCO_2$  and temperature through time in 2010. (Closed squares = Ambient temperature 27°C and ambient  $pCO_2$  (446ppm), open squares = high temp (29°C, 446ppm), closed circles = high CO<sub>2</sub> (27°C and 675 ppm) and open circles = T x CO<sub>2</sub> (29°C and 710 ppm). See Table 3.1 for actual temperature and  $pCO_2$  values.



**Figure 5.3**: Stereo-micrographs of representative coral spats of *A. millepora* in four different pH treatments. Refer to Chapter 2, Table 2.1 for actual pH values.



**Figure 5.4**: Stereo-micrographs of representative coral spats of *A. tenuis* in four different  $CO_2$  and temperature treatments (ambient, High Temp, High  $CO_2$  and T x  $CO_2$ ). Refer to Chapter 3, Table 3.1 for actual temperature and  $pCO_2$  values.



**Figure 5.5**: Stereo-micrographs of representative coral spats of *A. millepora* in four different elevated  $CO_2$  and temperature treatments (ambient, High Temp, High  $CO_2$  and T x  $CO_2$ ). Refer to Chapter 3, Table 3.1 for actual temperature and  $pCO_2$  values.



## **Chapter 6: General Discussion**

The results of my thesis suggest that near-future levels of ocean acidification are unlikely to have major significant ecological effects on the early life history stages of corals. I detected no consistent effects of elevated  $CO_2$  on fertilization success, embryonic development, larval survival, larval settlement or growth of juveniles (Chapter 2, 4 and 5). In contrast, ocean warming enhanced larval development (Chapter 3) and therefore may have an effect on patterns of dispersal by reducing the time for larvae to become competent. Here, I elaborate on these findings and suggest some ideas for future research.

This thesis has advanced our understanding of coral recruitment ecology, specifically on the effects of climate change related stressors. The results presented in my thesis were the first studies in Australia to look at the synergistic effects of ocean acidification and warming on the early life history stages of common and ecologically important acroporids. This study builds substantially on previous work (Table 1.2) with an intensive compilation of data *on A. tenuis, A. hyacinthus* and A. *millepora* (a summary of my results is presented in Table 5.1). When these studies are considered in total, they support my contention that ocean acidity does not represent a direct ecological threat to the early life history stages of corals. Effects of OA on early life history of corals are only apparent at unrealistically high levels of  $pCO_2$  or when gametes or larvae are weak. The only consistent result in the literature is a reduction of coral larval metamorphosis on settlement substratum pre-conditioned in an acidified treatment. However, even here no plausible mechanism has been advanced.

I found no significant effects of OA and warming on the early life history stages of two spawning acroporids, prior to settlement (as outlined in Chapters 2 and 3). This chapter highlights the possibility of maternal influence on the quality of offspring; in particular, withstanding climate related stressors early in their life cycle. The robustness of acroporids' fertilization was further affirmed in Chapters 2 and 3. Maternal factors fulfil an important role in the survival and success of offspring (Marshall 2008, Marshall et al 2008). For instance, the environment where the adult was cultured induced persistent carry-on maternal effects on the offspring (Sanford and Kelly 2011). Sydney Rock Oyster (Saccostrea glomerata) adults subjected to elevated  $pCO_2$  during gametogenesis have produced positive carry-over effects on larvae, with larvae from pre-exposed adults being less affected in elevated  $CO_2$  conditions (Parker et al. 2012). Similarly, byrozoan (Bugula neritina) adults were pre-conditioned in multiple elevated copper concentrations prior to brooding, and the larvae produced were larger, more dispersive and more stress tolerant (Marshall 2008). However, maternal exposure history may also have pervasive, negative effects on the post-metamorphic performance (particularly survival) of offspring: offspring from toxicant-exposed mothers had poorer performance after six weeks in the field, especially when faced with high levels of intraspecific competition (Marshall 2008). Hence, maternal experience can have complex effects on offspring phenotype, enhancing performance in one life-history stage while decreasing performance in another (Marshall and Morgan 2011). Therefore, I suggest that future studies explore the effect of OA on gametogenesis of corals, to examine the effects of ocean acidification throughout early life history.

Another alternative for contrasting results between my own and other's work, particularly with respect to juvenile growth, was that previous experiments have examined species that differ in terms of physiology and biology. The major difference being that I used the larvae of broadcast spawners that lack maternally provided zooxanthellae, whereas most other experiments have used larvae with maternally provided zooxanthellae (Table 1.2 and Table 1.3). While I did infect my larvae with symbionts prior to settlement, the densities were low (Chapter 5). The lack of zooxanthellae in the coral larvae is a plausible beneficial factor, at least early in life. The presence of zooxanthellae significantly affects survival of *A. intermedia* and *A. muricata* larvae exposed to thermal stress, suggesting that symbionts are a severe burden to symbiotic coral larvae under heat stress (Baird et al 2006; Yakovleva et al 2009). In future, it would be substantial to assess more directly whether symbionts may also predispose coral larvae to OA.

In conclusion, understanding the vulnerability and robustness of earlier developmental stages is fundamental to the persistence of tropical coral populations and crucial in relation to the varied responses of species in the suite of future acidity and temperature elevation scenarios. The varied response indicates a possible phase shift of community with the change of species composition under predicted climate change scenarios. For example, from hard coral dominant reef, to algae or sea grass dominated (Fabricius et al. 2011, in high CO<sub>2</sub> volcanic vents) or sponges dominated habitat (Rutzler 2002, following a decrease of live coral in Belize). Repeating this experiment, combined with more potential stress factors (e.g. anthropogenic activities), is required to make reliable predictions about the future of entire coral communities and reefs in the Great Barrier Reef. Rapid increases in the atmospheric  $pCO_2$  level in conjunction with human exploitation have led the reef to a state of constant stress. It is crucial to incorporate anthropogenic activities in future research, as it will give a more realistic representation of

the A2 scenario in conjunction with capital growth and it will provide a more strategic management approach, particularly in countries that rely heavily on marine resources.

**Table 6.1**: A summary of the results compiled in this thesis. The effects of ocean acidification and warming on 3 species of acroporids

 were investigated. Plus signs (+) denote increase, minus signs (-) denote decrease, compared to control values.

		Elevated CO <sub>2</sub> (pH) 2009		Acidity (pH)	Warming (°C) 2010	acidity and warming 2010	
	year			2010			
	temperature		750	1000	750	+ 2 °C	+ 2 °C 750
	$pCO_2(ppm)$	550					
<b>Responses variable</b>	species						
Fertilization							
	Acropora tenuis	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
	Acropora hyacinthus	NS	NS	NS			
	Acropora millepora	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
Development (hours)							
	Acropora tenuis	NS	NS	- 4h		- 1h	- 2h
	Acropora hyacinthus	NS	NS	+ 2h			
	Acropora millepora	NS	NS	NS	NS	- 2h	- 2h
Motility (hours)							
	Acropora tenuis				+ 9h	-19h	- 29h
	Acropora millepora				no consistent effect	no consistent effect	no consistent effect
Planulae survival							
	Acropora tenuis	NS	NS	NS		NS	NS
	Acropora hyacinthus	NS	NS	NS			
	Acropora millepora	NS	NS	NS		- 80%	- 80%
Metamorphosis							
	Acropora tenuis	NS	NS	NS	no consistent effect	no consistent effect	no consistent effect
	Acropora millepora	NS	+ 17%	+ 19%	no consistent effect	no consistent effect	no consistent effect
Post-settlement growth							
8	Acropora tenuis	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS
	Acropora millepora	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS

## References

- Albright R, Mason B, Langdon C (2008) Effect of aragonite saturation state on settlement and post-settlement growth of *Porites astreoides* larvae. Coral Reefs 27:485-490
- Albright R, Mason B, Miller M, et al. (2010) Ocean acidification compromises recruitment success of the threatened Caribbean coral Acropora palmata. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:20400-20404
- Albright R, Langdon C (2011) Ocean acidification impacts multiple early life history processes of the Caribbean coral *Porites astreoides*. Glob Change Biol 17:2478-2487
- Albright R (2011) Reviewing the effects of ocean acidification on sexual reproduction and early life history stages of reef-building corals. J Mar Biol
- Allemand D, Ferrier-Pagès C, Furla P, et al. (2004) Biomineralisation in reef-building corals: from molecular mechanisms to environmental control. Comptes Rendus Palevol 3:453-467
- Allen GR, Steene R (1994) Indo-Pacific coral reef field guide. Tropical reef research Singapore
- Anlauf H, D'Croz L, O'Dea A (2011) A corrosive concoction: The combined effects of ocean warming and acidification on the early growth of a stony coral are multiplicative. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 397:13-20
- Anthony KRN, Kline DI, Diaz-Pulido G, et al. (2008) Ocean acidification causes bleaching and productivity loss in coral reef builders. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:17442-17446
- Arnold KE, Findlay HS, Spicer JI, et al. (2009) Effects of CO<sub>2</sub> related acidification on aspects of the larval development of the European lobster, *Homarus gammarus* (L.). Biogeosciences 6:1747-1754
- Arthur R, Done T, Marsh H (2005) Benthic recovery four years after an El Ninoinduced coral mass mortality in the Lakshadweep atolls. Current Science 89:694-699
- Baird AH, Babcock RC (2000) Morphological differences among three species of newly settled Pocilloporid coral recruits. Coral Reefs 19:179-183
- Baird, A. H., Bhagooli, R., Ralph, P. J., & Takahashi, S. (2009). Coral bleaching: the role of the host. [Review]. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 24(1), 16-20.

- Baird AH, Gilmour JP, Kamiki TM, et al. (2006) Temperature tolerance of symbiotic and non-symbiotic coral larvae. 10th Int Coral Reef Sym:38-42
- Baird AH, Guest JR, Willis BL (2009) Systematic and biogeographical patterns in the reproductive biology of scleractinian corals. Annu Rev Ecol, Evol and Sys 40:551-571
- Baird AH, Marshall PA (2002) Mortality, growth and reproduction in scleractinian corals following bleaching on the Great Barrier Reef. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 237:133-141
- Babcock R, Mundy C (1996) Coral recruitment: Consequences of settlement choice for early growth and survivorship in two scleractinians. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 206:179-201
- Babcock RC, Baird AH, Piromvaragorn S, et al. (2003) Identification of scleractinian coral recruits from Indo-Pacific reefs. Zool Stud 42:211-226
- Barry JP, Tyrell T, Hansson L, et al. (2010) Atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> targets for ocean acidification perturbation experiments. In: Riebesell U, Fabry VJ, Hansson L, Gattuso JP (eds) Guide to best practices for ocean acidification research and data reporting European project on ocean acidification Luxembourg, pp 53-64
- Bassim KM, Sammarco PW (2003) Effects of temperature and ammonium on larval development and survivorship in a scleractinian coral (*Diploria strigosa*). Mar Biol 142:241-252
- Bassim KM, Sammarco PW, Snell TL (2002) Effects of temperature on success of (self and non-self) fertilization and embryogenesis in *Diploria strigosa* (Cnidaria, Scleractinia). Mar Biol 140:479-488
- Bensoussan N, Gattuso JP (2007) Community primary production and calcification in a NW Mediterranean ecosystem dominated by calcareous macroalgae. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 334:37-45
- Bindoff NL, Willebrand J, Artale V, et al. (2007) Observations: Oceanic Climate Change and Sea Level. In: Solomon S, Qin D, Manning M, Chen Z, Marquis M, Averyt KB, M. T, H.L. M (eds) Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, USA.

- Boyett HV, Bourne DG, Willis BL (2007) Elevated temperature and light enhance progression and spread of black band disease on staghorn corals of the Great Barrier Reef. Mar Biol 151:1711-1720
- Bryant D, Burke L, McManus JW, et al. (1998) Reefs at Risk: A Map-Based Indicator of Threats to the world's coral reefs. World Resources Institute, Washington, DC 56pp
- Byrne M (2011) Impact of ocean warming and ocean acidification on marine invertebrate life history stages: vulnerabilities and potential for persistence in a changing ocean. In: Gibson RN, Atkinson RJA, Gordon JDM (eds) Oceanogr Mar Biol, 49: 1-42
- Byrne M, Ho M, Selvakumaraswamy P, et al. (2009) Temperature, but not pH, compromises sea urchin fertilization and early development under near-future climate change scenarios. Proc R Soc B-Biol Sci 276:1883-1888
- Byrne M, Soars NA, Ho MA, et al. (2010) Fertilization in a suite of coastal marine invertebrates from SE Australia is robust to near-future ocean warming and acidification. Mar Biol 157:2061-2069
- Byrne M, Ho M, Wong E, et al. (2011) Unshelled abalone and corrupted urchins: development of marine calcifiers in a changing ocean. Proc Roy Soc B-Biol S 276: 2376-2383
- Caldeira K, Wickett ME (2003) Anthropogenic carbon and ocean pH. Nature 425:365-365
- Carricart-Ganivet JP (2004) Sea surface temperature and the growth of the West Atlantic reef-building coral *Montastraea annularis*. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 302:249-260
- Cesar H, Burke L, Pet-Soede L (2003) The economics of worldwide coral reef degradation. Cesar Environmental Economics Consulting (CEEC), The Netherlands
- Chamberlain JA, Jr. (1978) Mechanical Properties of Coral Skeleton: Compressive Strength and its Adaptive Significance. Paleobiol 4:419-435
- Cigliano M, Gambi M, Rodolfo-Metalpa R, et al. (2010) Effects of ocean acidification on invertebrate settlement at volcanic CO<sub>2</sub> vents. Mar Biol 157:2489-2502
- Coles SL (1985) The effects of elevated temperature on reef coral planula settlement as related to power station entertainment. 5<sup>th</sup> Int Coral Reef Congr 4:171-176
- Connolly SR, Baird AH (2010) Estimating dispersal potential for marine larvae: dynamic models applied to scleractinian corals. Ecology 91:3572-3583
- Cooper TF, De 'Ath G, Fabricius KE, et al. (2008) Declining coral calcification in massive Porites in two nearshore regions of the northern Great Barrier Reef. Glob Change Biol 14:529-538
- Cooper TF, O'Leary RA, Lough JM (2012) Growth of Western Australian Corals in the Anthropocene. Science 335:593-596
- Costanza R, d'Arge R, de Groot R, et al. (1997) The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Nature 387:253-260
- Crabbe MJC (2007) Global warming and coral reefs: Modelling the effect of temperature on Acropora palmata colony growth. Comp Biol Chem 31:294-297
- de Putron S, McCorkle D, Cohen A, et al. (2011) The impact of seawater saturation state and bicarbonate ion concentration on calcification by new recruits of two Atlantic corals. Coral Reefs 30:321-328
- De'ath G, Lough JM, Fabricius KE (2009) Declining Coral Calcification on the Great Barrier Reef. Science 323:116-119
- Dickson AG (1990) Standard potential of the reaction:  $AgCl(s) + 1/2H_2(g) = Ag(s) + HCl(aq)$ , and and the standard acidity constant of the ion  $HSO_4^-$  in synthetic sea water from 273.15 to 318.15 K. J Chem Thermodyn 22:113-127
- Dickson AG, Millero FJ (1987) A comparison of the equilibrium constants for the dissociation of carbonic acid in seawater media. Deep Sea Res A 34:1733-1743
- Doherty P, Fowler T (1994) An empirical test of recruitment limitation in a Coral Reef Fish. Science 263:935-939
- Doropoulos, C., Ward, S., Diaz-Pulido, G., Hoegh-Guldberg, O., & Mumby, P. J.
  (2012). Ocean acidification reduces coral recruitment by disrupting intimate larval-algal settlement interactions. *Ecology Letters*, 15(4), 338-346.
- Dufault, A. M., Cumbo, V. R., Fan, T.-Y., & Edmunds, P. J. (2012). Effects of diurnally oscillating *p*CO<sub>2</sub> on the calcification and survival of coral recruits. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*.
- Dupont S, Havenhand J, Thorndyke W, et al. (2008) Near-future level of CO2-driven ocean acidification radically affects larval survival and development in the brittlestar *Ophiothrix fragilis*. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 373:285-294

- Edmunds PJ (2005) The effect of sub-lethal increases in temperature on the growth and population trajectories of three scleractinian corals on the southern Great Barrier Reef. Oceologia 146:350-364
- Edmunds PJ (2008) The effects of temperature on the growth of juvenile scleractinian corals. Mar Biol 154:153-162
- Edmunds PJ, Gates RD, Gleason DF (2001) The biology of larvae from the reef coral *Porites astreoides*, and their response to temperature disturbances. Mar Biol 139:981-989
- Ellis R, Bersey J, Rundle S, et al. (2009) Subtle but significant effects of CO<sub>2</sub> acidified seawater on embryos of the intertidal snail, *Littorina obtusata*. Aquat Biol 5:41-48
- Emanuel K (2005) Increasing destructiveness of tropical cyclones over the past 30 years. Nature 436:686-688
- Fabricius KE, Langdon C, Uthicke S, et al. (2011) Losers and winners in coral reefs acclimatized to elevated carbon dioxide concentrations. Nature Clim Change 1:165–169
- Fabry VJ, Seibel BA, Feely RA, et al. (2008) Impacts of ocean acidification on marine fauna and ecosystem processes. ICES Journal of Marine Science 65:414-432
- Fan TY, Li JJ, Ie SX, et al. (2002) Lunar periodicity of larval release by pocilloporid corals in southern Taiwan. Zool Stud 41:288-294
- Feely RA, Sabine CL, Lee K, et al. (2004) Impact of anthropogenic CO<sub>2</sub> on the CaCO<sub>3</sub> system in the oceans. Science 305:362-366
- Feely RA, Doney SC, Cooley SR (2009) Ocean Acidification: Present Conditions and Future Changes in a High-CO<sub>2</sub> World. Oceanogr 22:36-47
- Gagliano M, McCormick MI, Moore JA, et al. (2010) The basics of acidification: baseline variability of pH on Australian coral reefs. Mar Biol 157:1849-1856
- Gattuso JP, Frankignoulle M, Bourge I, et al. (1998) Effect of calcium carbonate saturation of seawater on coral calcification. Glob Planet Change 18:37-46
- Gazeau F, Gattuso JP, Dawber C, et al. (2010) Effect of ocean acidification on the early life stages of the blue mussel *Mytilus edulis*. Biogeosciences 7:2051-2060
- Goreau TF, Bowen VT (1955) Calcium Uptake by a Coral. Science 122:1188-1189
- Goreau TF, Goreau NI (1959) The Physiology of Skeleton Formation in Corals. II. Calcium Deposition by Hermatypic Corals under Various Conditions in the Reef. Biol Bull 117:239-250

- Goreau TJ, Macfarlane AH (1990) Reduced growth rate of *Montastrea annularis* following the 1987-1988 Coral Bleaching Event Coral Reefs 8:211-215
- Gosselin LA, Qian PY (1997) Juvenile mortality in benthic marine invertebrates. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 146:265-282
- Guinotte JM, Orr J, Cairns S, et al. (2006) Will human-induced changes in seawater chemistry alter the distribution of deep-sea scleractinian corals? Front Ecol Environ 4:141-146
- Hamdoun A, Epel D (2007) Embryo stability and vulnerability in an always changing world. P Nat Acad Sci 104:1745-1750
- Harrison PL, Wallace CC (1990) Reproduction, dispersal and recruitment of Scleractinian corals. In: Dubinsky Z (ed) Ecosystems of the world 25: Coral Reefs. Elsevier, Amsterdam pp 133-196
- Hatcher BG (1988) Coral reef primary production A beggars banquet. Trends Ecol Evol 3:106-111
- Havenhand JN, Buttler FR, Thorndyke MC, et al. (2008) Near-future levels of ocean acidification reduce fertilization success in a sea urchin. Curr Biol 18:R651-R652
- Henderson-Sellers A, Zhang H, Berz G, et al. (1998) Tropical Cyclones and Global Climate Change: A Post-IPCC Assessment. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 79:19-38
- Hendriks IE, Duarte CM, Álvarez M (2010) Vulnerability of marine biodiversity to ocean acidification: A meta-analysis. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 86:157-164
- Heyward AJ, Negri AP (1999) Natural inducers for coral larval metamorphosis. Coral Reefs 18:273-279
- Hirose M, Hidaka M (2006) Early Development of Zooxanthella-containing Eggs of the Corals *Porites cylindrica* and *Montipora digitata*: The Endodermal Localization of Zooxanthellae. Zool Sci 23:873-881
- Hoegh-Guldberg O (2004) Coral reefs in a century of rapid environmental change. Symbiosis 37:1-31
- Hoegh-Guldberg O (2005) Low coral cover in a high-CO<sub>2</sub> world. J Geophys Res-Oceans 110:11
- Hoegh-Guldberg O, Mumby PJ, Hooten AJ, et al. (2007) Coral reefs under rapid climate change and ocean acidification. Science 318:1737-1742

- Hughes TP, Tanner JE (2000) Recruitment failure, life histories, and long-term decline of Caribbean corals. Ecology 81:2250-2263
- Hughes TP, Baird AH, Dinsdale EA, et al. (2000) Supply-side ecology works both ways: the link between benthic adults, fecundity, and larval recruits. Ecology 81:2241-2249
- Iglesias-Rodriguez MD, Halloran PR, Rickaby REM, et al. (2008) Phytoplankton calcification in a high-CO<sub>2</sub> world. Science (Washington D C) 320:336-340
- Inoue M, Suwa R, Suzuki A, et al. (2011) Effects of seawater pH on growth and skeletal U/Ca ratios of *Acropora digitifera* coral polyps. Geophys Res Lett 38:L12809
- Jennings S, Polunin NVC (1996) Impacts of Fishing on Tropical Reef Ecosystems. Ambio 25:44-49
- Jokiel PL, Coles SL (1990) Response of Hawaiian and other Indo-Pacific reef corals to elevated temperature. Coral Reefs 8:155-162
- Jokiel PL, Rodgers KS, Kuffner IB, et al. (2008) Ocean acidification and calcifying reef organisms: a mesocosm investigation. Coral Reefs 27:473-483
- Jones RJ, Bowyer J, Hoegh-Guldberg O, et al. (2004) Dynamics of a temperaturerelated coral disease outbreak. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 281:63-77
- Kleypas J, Hoegh-Guldberg O (2006) Coral Reefs and Climate Change: Susceptibility and Consequences. In: Wilkinson C, Souter D (eds) Caribbean Coral Reefs after Bleaching and Hurricanes in 2005. Global Coral Reef Monitoring Network, Townsville, 4810 Australia, pp 19-29
- Kleypas JA, Buddemeier RW, Gattuso JP (2001) The future of coral reefs in an age of global change. Int J Earth Sci 90:426-437
- Kleypas JA, Buddemeier RW, Archer D, et al. (1999) Geochemical consequences of increased atmospheric carbon dioxide on coral reefs. Science 284:118-120
- Kleypas JA, Feely RA, Fabry VJ, et al. (2006) Impacts of ocean acidification on coral reefs and other marine calcifiers. A guide for future research. Report of a workshop sponsored by NSF, NOAA and USGS 96
- Kroeker KJ, Kordas RL, Crim RN, Singh GG (2010) Meta-analysis reveals negative yet variable effects of ocean acidification on marine organisms. Ecol Letters 13:1419-1434
- Kuffner IB, Andersson AJ, Jokiel PL, et al. (2008) Decreased abundance of crustose coralline algae due to ocean acidification. Nature Geoscience 1:114-117

- Kurihara H (2008) Effects of CO<sub>2</sub>-driven ocean acidification on the early developmental stages of invertebrates. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 373:275-284
- Kurihara H, Matsui M, Furukawa H, et al. (2008) Long-term effects of predicted future seawater CO<sub>2</sub> conditions on the survival and growth of the marine shrimp Palaemon pacificus. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 367:41-46
- Kurihara H, Shirayama Y (2004) Effects of increased atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> on sea urchin early development. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 274:161-169
- Kurihara H, Shimode S, Shirayama Y (2004) Sub-lethal effects of elevated concentration of  $CO_2$  on planktonic copepods and sea urchins. J Oceanogr 60:743-750
- Kurihara H, Kato S, Ishimatsu A (2007) Effects of increased seawater pCO<sub>2</sub> on early development of the oyster *Crassostrea gigas*. Aquat Biol 1:91-98
- Langdon C (2000) Review of experimental evidence for effects of CO<sub>2</sub> on calcification of reef builders. . 9<sup>th</sup> Int Coral Reef Sym 2:1091-1098
- Langdon C, Atkinson MJ (2005) Effect of elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> on photosynthesis and calcification of corals and interactions with seasonal change in temperature/irradiance and nutrient enrichment. J Geophys Res-Oceans 110:16
- Langenbuch M, Pörtner HO (2002) Changes in metabolic rate and N excretion in the marine invertebrate *Sipunculus nudus* under conditions of environmental hypercapnia. J Exp Biol 205:1153-1160
- Le Quere C, Rodenbeck C, Buitenhuis ET, et al. (2007) Saturation of the Southern Ocean CO<sub>2</sub> Sink Due to Recent Climate Change. Science 316:1735-1738
- Le Tissier MDAA (1988) Patterns of formation and the ultrastructure of the larval skeleton of *Pocillopora damicornis*. Mar Biol 98:493-501
- Maona Loa Observatory NOAA-ESRL (2012) Atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> for January 2012, Hawaii
- Marshall DJ (2008) Transgenerational plasticity in the sea: context-dependent maternal effects across the life history. Ecology 89:418-427
- Marshall DJ, Morgan SG (2011) Ecological and Evolutionary Consequences of Linked Life-History Stages in the Sea. Current Biology 21:R718-R725
- Marshall DJ, Allen RM, Crean AJ (2008) The Ecological And Evolutionary Importance Of Maternal Effects In The Sea. Oceanogr Mar Biol 46: 203-262
- Mayor DJ, Matthews C, Cook K, et al. (2007) CO<sub>2</sub>-induced acidification affects hatching success in Calanus finmarchicus. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 350:91-97

- McClanahan TR, Baird AH, Marshall PA, et al. (2004) Comparing bleaching and mortality responses of hard corals between southern Kenya and the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Mar Pollut Bull 48:327-335
- McClanahan, T. R., Weil, E., Cortés, J., Baird, A. H., & Ateweberhan, M. (2009).
  Consequences of Coral Bleaching for Sessile Reef Organisms. In M. J. H. van
  Oppen & J. M. Lough (Eds.), *Coral Bleaching* (pp. 121-138). Berlin Heidelberg:
  Springer-Verlag
- Mehrbach C, Culberson CH, Hawley JE, et al. (1973) Measurement of the Apparent Dissociation Constants of Carbonic Acid in Seawater at Atmospheric Pressure. Limnol Oceanogr 18:897-907
- Michaelidis B, Ouzounis C, Paleras A, et al. (2005) Effects of long-term moderate hypercapnia on acid-base balance and growth rate in marine mussels *Mytilus galloprovincialis*. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 293:109-118
- Michalek-Wagner K, Willis BL (2001) Impacts of bleaching on the soft coral Lobophytum compactum. I. Fecundity, fertilization and offspring viability. Coral Reefs 19:231-239
- Morgan SG (2001) the larval ecology of marine communities In: Bertness MD, Gaines SD, Hay ME (eds) Marine community ecology Sinauer Associates Sunderland, MA, pp 159-181
- Morita M, Suwa R, Iguchi A, et al. (2010) Ocean acidification reduces sperm flagellar motility in broadcast spawning reef invertebrates. Zygote 18:1-5
- Moya, A., Huisman, L., Ball, E. E., Hayward, D. C., Grasso, L. C., Chua, C. M., et al. (2012). Whole transcriptome analysis of the coral *Acropora millepora* reveals complex responses to CO<sub>2</sub>-driven acidification during the initiation of calcification. *Mol Ecol.*
- Munday PL, Dixson DL, Donelson JM, et al. (2009) Ocean acidification impairs olfactory discrimination and homing ability of a marine fish. Proc Nat Acad Sci 106:1848-1852
- Nakamura T, van Woesik R (2001) Water-flow rates and passive diffusion partially explain differential survival of corals during the 1998 bleaching event. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 212:301-304

- Nakamura M, Ohki S, Suzuki A, et al. (2011) Coral Larvae under Ocean Acidification: Survival, Metabolism, and Metamorphosis. PLoS ONE 6
- Negri AP, Marshall PA, Heyward AJ (2007) Differing effects of thermal stress on coral fertilization and early embryogenesis in four Indo Pacific species. Coral Reefs 26:759-763
- Nozawa Y, Harisson PL (2000) Larval settlement patterns, dispersal potential, and the effect of temperature on settlement of larvae of the reef coral, *Platygyra daedalea*, from the Great Barrier Reef. 9th Int Coral Reef Symp 1:409-416
- Nozawa Y, Harrison PL (2007) Effects of elevated temperature on larval settlement and post-settlement survival in scleractinian corals, *Acropora solitaryensis* and *Favites chinensis*. Mar Biol 152:1181-1185
- O'Connor MI, Piehler MF, Leech DM, et al. (2009) Warming and Resource Availability Shift Food Web Structure and Metabolism. PLoS Biol 7:e1000178
- Ohde S, van Woesik R (1999) Carbon dioxide flux and metabolic processes of a coral reef, Okinawa. Bulletin of Marine Science 65:559-576
- Oliver J, Babcock R (1992) Aspects of fertilization ecology of broadcast spawning corals- sperm dilution effects and *in-situ* measurements of fertilization. Biol Bull 183:409-417
- Orr JC, Fabry VJ, Aumont O, et al. (2005) Anthropogenic ocean acidification over the twenty-first century and its impact on calcifying organisms. Nature 437:681-686
- Parker LM, Ross PM, O'Connor WA, et al. (2012) Adult exposure influences offspring response to ocean acidification in oysters. Glob Change Biol:82-92
- Pandolfi JM, Connolly SR, Marshall DJ, et al. (2011) Projecting Coral Reef Futures Under Global Warming and Ocean Acidification. Science 333:418-422
- Penin L, Michonneau F, Carroll A, et al. (2011) Effects of predators and grazers exclusion on early post-settlement coral mortality. Hydrobiologia 663:259-264
- Pierrot D, Lewis E, Wallace D (2006) MS Excel Program Developed for CO<sub>2</sub> Systems Calculations ORNL/CDIAC-105a. Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center, Oak Bridge National Laboratory, U. S. Department of Energy, Oak Ridge Tennessee
- Pörtner H, Reipschlager A (1998) Acid-base regulation, metabolism and energetics in sipunculus nudus as a function of ambient carbon dioxide level. J Exp Biol 201:43-55

- Pörtner HO, Langenbuch M, Reipschlager A (2004) Biological impact of elevated ocean CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations: Lessons from animal physiology and earth history.
   J Oceanogr 60:705-718
- Pörtner HO (2009) Ecosystem impacts of climate change and ocean acidification: A case for "global" conservation physiology. Comp Biochem Phys -A 153:S59-S59
- Pörtner HO, Langenbuch M, Michaelidis B (2005) Synergistic effects of temperature extremes, hypoxia, and increases in CO<sub>2</sub> on marine animals: From Earth history to global change. J Geophys Res 110
- Portune KJ, Voolstra CR, Medina M, et al. (2010) Development and heat stress-induced transcriptomic changes during embryogenesis of the scleractinian coral *Acropora palmata*. Mar Genom 3:51-62
- Purcell JE (2005) Climate effects on formation of jellyfish and ctenophore blooms: a review. J Biol Assoc UK 85:461-476
- Purcell JE, Uye S, Lo W (2007) Anthropogenic causes of jellyfish blooms and their direct consequences for humans: a review. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 350:153-174
- Randall CJ, Szmant AM (2009) Elevated Temperature Affects Development, Survivorship, and Settlement of the Elkhorn Coral, Acropora palmata (Lamarck 1816). Biol Bull 217:269-282
- Randall C, Szmant A (2009) Elevated temperature reduces survivorship and settlement of the larvae of the Caribbean scleractinian coral, *Favia fragum* (Esper). Coral Reefs 28:537-545
- Raven J, Caldeira K, H. E, et al. (2005) Ocean acidification due to increasing atmospheric Carbon Dioxide. The Royal Society, London
- Reynaud S, Leclercq N, Romaine-Lioud S, et al. (2003) Interacting effects of CO<sub>2</sub> partial pressure and temperature on photosynthesis and calcification in a scleractinian coral. Glob Change Biol 9:1660-1668
- Riegl BM, Purkis SJ (2009) Model of coral population response to accelerated bleaching and mass mortality in a changing climate. Ecol Model 220:192-208
- Rodolfo-Metalpa R, Martin S, Ferrier-Pagès C, et al. (2010) Response of the temperate coral *Cladocora caespitosa* to mid- and long-term exposure to  $pCO_2$  and temperature levels projected for the year 2100 AD. Biogeosciences 7:289-300
- Rutzler K (2002) Impacts of Crustose Clionid Sponges on Caribbean Coral Reefs. Acta Geol Hisp 37:61-72

- Sabine CL, Feely RA, Gruber N, et al. (2004) The oceanic sink for anthropogenic CO<sub>2</sub>. Science 305:367-371
- Salvat B (1992) Coral reefs a challenging ecosystem for human societies. Glob Environ Change 2:12-18
- Sanford E, Kelly MW (2011) Local Adaptation in Marine Invertebrates. Ann Rev Mar Sci 3:509-535
- Sheppard Brennand H, Soars N, Dworjanyn SA, et al. (2010) Impact of Ocean Warming and Ocean Acidification on Larval Development and Calcification in the Sea Urchin *Tripneustes gratilla*. PLoS ONE 5:e11372
- Shirayama Y, Thornton H (2005) Effect of increased atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> on shallow water marine benthos. J Geophys Res-Oceans 110:7
- Silverman J, Lazar B, Erez J (2007) Effect of aragonite saturation, temperature, and nutrients on the community calcification rate of a coral reef. J Geophys Res-Oceans 112:14
- Silverman J, Lazar B, Cao L, et al. (2009) Coral reefs may start dissolving when atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> doubles. Geophys Res Lett 36
- Skirrow G, Whitfield M (1975) Effect of increases in atmospheric carbon-dioxide content on carbonate ion concentration of surface ocean water at 25 degrees celcius. . Limnol Oceanogr 20:103-108
- Sorokin YI (1993) Coral Reef Ecology. In: Heldmaier G, Lange OL, Mooney HA, Sommer U (eds) Ecological studies Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp 465
- Suwa R, Nakamura M, Morita M, et al. (2010) Effects of acidified seawater on early life stages of scleractinian corals (Genus Acropora). Fisheries Sci 76:93-99
- Takahashi S, Nakamura T, Sakamizu M, et al. (2004) Repair machinery of symbiotic photosynthesis as the primary target of heat stress for reef-building corals. Plant Cell Phys 45:251-255
- Turley C, Roberts J, Guinotte J (2007) Corals in deep-water: will the unseen hand of ocean acidification destroy cold-water ecosystems? Coral Reefs 26:445-448
- Vandermeulen JH, Watabe N (1973) Studies on reef corals. I. Skeleton formation by newly settled planula larva of *Pocillopora damicornis*. Mar Biol 23:47-57
- Venn, A., Tambutté, E., Holcomb, M., Allemand, D., & Tambutté, S. (2011). Live Tissue Imaging Shows Reef Corals Elevate pH under Their Calcifying Tissue Relative to Seawater. *PLoS ONE*, 6(5), e20013.

- Wilkinson CR (1996) Global change and coral reefs: Impacts on reefs, economies and human cultures. Global Change Biology 2:547-558
- Yakovleva IM, Baird AH, Yamamoto HH, et al. (2009) Algal symbionts increase oxidative damage and death in coral larvae at high temperatures. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 378:105-112
- Yates KK, Halley RB (2006)  $\text{CO}_3^{2-}$  concentration and pCO<sub>2</sub> thresholds for calcification and dissolution on the Molokai reef flat, Hawaii. Biogeosciences 3:357-369
- Yund PO, Cunningham CW, Buss LW (1987) Recruitment and postrecruitment interactions in a Colonial Hydroid. Ecology 68:971-982
- Zoccola D, Tambutte E, Kulhanek E, et al. (2004) Molecular cloning and localization of a PMCA P-type calcium ATPase from the coral *Stylophora pistillata*. Biochem Biophys Acta-Biomembr 1663:117-126
- Zoccola D, Tambutté E, Sénégas-Balas F, et al. (1999) Cloning of a calcium channel α1 subunit from the reef-building coral, *Stylophora pistillata*. Gene 227:157-167

## Appendix

Moya A, Huisman L, Ball EE, Hayward DC, Grasso LC, **Chua CM**, Woo HN, Gattuso J-P, Forêt S, Miller DJ (2012) Whole transcriptome analysis of the coral *Acropora millepora* reveals complex responses to CO<sub>2</sub>-driven acidification during the initiation of calcification. Mol Ecol in Press

## This article was removed due to copyright restrictions
Page 35 of 40

Page 37 of 40

Page 39 of 40